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INVESTIGATION 
 

 
In its campaign for integrity and efficiency, and in its fight to curb 

corruption, the Office of the Ombudsman has taken the proactive approach in 
making graft and corruption a high risk and low reward activity. Among the 
Office’s main tools for making graft and corruption a high risk and low reward 
activity are: (a) aggressive and effective criminal prosecution; (b) thorough and strategic 
investigation; and (c) swift and decisive administrative investigation and adjudication.  
 
 Towards this end, the Office of the Ombudsman utilizes its three 
functional offices, namely: the Fact-Finding Investigation and Research Office 
(FIRO); the Preliminary Investigation, Administrative Adjudication Monitoring 
Office (PAMO); and the Office of the Special Prosecutor (OSP).  

 
 

 
EVALUATION AND INVESTIGATION 

 
 
TOTAL WORKLOAD 

 
 
Reflected in Table 1 is the overall workload and status of criminal and 

administrative cases numbering 16,030 for calendar year 2003. Included in 
these cases are 9,310 criminal and administrative cases received and docketed in 
2003, the 6,617 cases carried over during the previous year, and the 103 
disposed cases which were reverted back to pending.  These cases are 
distributed as follows:  OMB Central Office - 3,366 or 21%; OMB-Luzon - 
4,373 or 27%; OMB-Visayas - 3,170 or 20%; OMB-Mindanao - 1,702 or 11%; 
and, OMB-Military and Other Law Enforcement Offices - 3,419 or 21%. (see 
Table 1)   
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TABLE 1.  WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF CRIMINAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE CASES 
(OMB DOCKETED AND OSP/TBP TRANSFERRED CASES) 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 
 

PARTICULARS TOTAL CO1 LUZ2 VIS3 MIN4 MOLEO
5 

Total Workload of 
Criminal and 
Administrative Cases 

 
16,030 

 
3,366 

 
4,373 

 
3,170 

 
1,702 

 
3,419 

Cases received during 
the year 

9,310 1,320 3,006 1,554 1,069 2,361 

Disposed cases reverted 
back to pending 

 
  103 

 
      73 

 
    10 

 
--- 

 
 8 

 
12 

Carry-over from 2002 6,617 1,973    1,357 1,616  625 1,046 
Disposed 7,302   1,346 1,452 1,290 951  2,263 
Prosecution 1,369    197    233    165  135     639 
Penalty Imposed    356    59    99    122   60      16 
Dismissed/Exonerated  4,711 1,022  1,106 781   750 1,052 
Closed and Terminated   866 68    14  222     6       556 
Pending   8,728  2,020   2,921  1,880     751    1,156 

Source: Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS 

 

Compared with the 8,267 newly docketed/filed criminal and 
administrative cases in 2002, this year’s 9,310 cases represented an 
increase of 1,043 cases or 13%.  The overall workload of 16,030 cases 
during 2003 reflected an increase of 3,107 cases or 24% from the 12,923 
cases during the previous year.  
 
 
CASES RECEIVED 
 
 
 The following figure shows the percentage distribution of the number of 
cases received by the central and area/sectoral offices. 
 
 
 
                                                 
1
 Central Office 
2
 Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for Luzon 
3
 Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for Visayas 
4
 Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for Mindanao 
5
 Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for the Military and Other Law Enforcement Offices 
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Figure 2 shows the trend in the number of cases being filed from 1988 to 
2003, with an accumulated total of 111,704 cases. 
 

 
 
 

Fig. 2  Annual Summary of Cases Received (1988 - 2003) 
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Fig. 1   Percentage Distribution of Cases Received for CY 2003 
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CASES RECEIVED BY AREA/SECTORAL OFFICE 
 
 In terms of the number of cases filed from 1988 to 2003 on a per area or 
sector basis, data showed that the bulk of the 111,704 cases, or 23% thereof, 
were filed directly with the Central Office of the Office of the Ombudsman 
(OMB-Central Office). Cases filed with the OMB-Visayas accounted for the 
next largest number of cases received with 21%. OMB-Luzon also received 
about 21% of the cases filed, followed by OMB-MOLEO, with 19%.  OMB-
Mindanao had the least number of cases filed from the region with 16% of the 
total cases received from 1988-2003. (see Table 2) 
 

TABLE 2.  NUMBER OF CASES RECEIVED BY THE CENTRAL OFFICE  
AND BY THE AREA/SECTORAL OFFICES (1988-2003) 

 
YEAR CO LUZON VISAYAS MIN MOLEO TOTAL 
1988      57 --- --- --- ---   57 
1989 2,029 1,102   450    191 --- 3,772 
1990 1,462    980   696    775    64 3,977 
1991 1,783 1,077   967 1,012   303 5,142 
1992 2,368    296   977 1,341   321 5,303 
1993 3,380    983 1,485 1,659   665 8,172 
1994 2,473 1,884 2,102 1,971 1,051 9,481 
1995 1,203 1,295 1,268 1,491   865 6,122 
1996 1,342 1,525 2,026 1,140 2,084 8,117 
1997 1,246 1,494 2,075 1,150 2,185 8,150 
1998 1,372 1,399 2,077 1,308 2,395 8,551 
1999 1,483 1,874 2,454 1,562 2,451 9,824 
2000 1,586 2,083 2,231 1,360 2,479 9,739 
2001 1,363 2,024 1,449 1,052 1,832 7,720 
2002 1,519 2,066 1,466 1,033 2,183 8,267 
2003 1,320 3,006 1,554 1,069 2,361 9,310 

TOTAL 25,986 23,088 23,277 18,114 21,239 111,704 
 

 
CASES DISPOSED 
  
 For calendar year 2003, a total of 7,302 cases were disposed of, which 
included the following:  for prosecution - 1,369 or 19%; for imposition of 
penalty - 356 or 5%; dismissed - 4,711 or 64%; and closed and terminated - 866 
or 12%.   

 
Overall, an increase of 996 cases or 16% was noted with this year’s 

disposal of 7,302 cases, compared to the 6,306 disposed cases recorded in 2002.   



2003 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 

 

 5 
 

 

 
 
 

Figure 4 shows the trend of cases disposed from 1988 to 2003. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Fig. 4 Annual Summary of Cases Disposed (1988-2003)
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Fig. 3.   Percentage Distribution of Cases Disposed 
for CY 2003 
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The disposal  
of 7,302 cases also 
represented 78% of 
the 9,310 newly 
docketed cases, and 
46% of the 16,030 
net workload of 
cases for the period. 

 
Figure 3 shows the percentage 
distribution of cases disposed 
of per area/sectoral office as 
reflected in Table1.  
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CASES DISPOSED BY AREA/SECTORAL OFFICE 
 

Reflected in the following table are the figures representing the number 
of cases disposed by the Central and area/sectoral offices from 1988 to 2003. 
The Central Office registered the highest disposal rate, followed by the sectoral 
office MOLEO, then the areas offices of Luzon, Visayas, and Mindanao. 
 

TABLE 3.  NUMBER OF CASES DISPOSED 
BY THE CENTRAL OFFICE AND BY THE AREA/SECTORAL OFFICE  

1988-2003 
                                                      
YEAR CO LUZON VISAYAS MIND. MOLEO TOTAL 
1988 1,862 --- --- --- --- 1,862 
1989 2,593   168    217    78 --- 3,056 
1990    821   384    536   362      5 2,108 
1991    876   534    814   582     79 2,885 
1992 1,395 1,125 1,215   394   365 4,494 
1993 2,160 1,207    671   738   640 5,416 
1994 2,514 1,470 1,266 1,521 1,001 7,772 
1995 1,984 1,416 1,476 1,834 1,155 7,865 
1996 2,974 1,135 1,752 1,281 2,121 9,263 
1997 3,249 1,772 2,094 2,034 2,343 11,492 
1998 1,769 2,365 1,989 1,956 2,737 10,816 
1999 1,248 1,944 1,458 1,998 2,587 9,235 
2000 2,579 2,267 2,064 2,107 3,079 13,096 
2001 1,586 2,342 1,911 1,329 2,156 9,324 
2002    920 1,266 1,215    822 2,083 6,306 
2003 1,346 1,452 1,290 951 2,263 7,302 

TOTAL 29,876 20,847 19,968 17,987 22,614 111,292 

 
 
CASES PENDING 
 

Total number of cases considered active and awaiting action as of 
December 31, 2003 was registered at 8,728 cases, representing 94% of the new 
cases received this year and about 54% of the net workload. Of the 8,728 
pending cases, 4,771, or 55% percent of the total pending cases by the end of 
2003, were criminal cases, while the remaining 3,856 cases, or 45%, were 
administrative cases. 
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Reflected in Figure 5 is the distribution of the pending cases by the end 
of year 2003. OMB-Central Office had 2,020 pending cases representing 23% 
of the total cases pending; OMB-Luzon had 2,921 pending cases representing 
33%; OMB-Visayas had 1,880 pending cases or 22%; OMB-Mindanao had 751 
pending cases or 9%; and OMB-MOLEO had 1,156 pending cases or 13%. 
 
COMPARATIVE PERFORMANCE OF THE AREA/SECTORAL OFFICES 
 

 
 

Fig. 5.  Percentage Distribution of the Number of Pending Cases as of December 
31, 2003 
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Fig. 6.  Bar Chart Comparing the Number of Cases Received and 
Disposed for CY 2003 by Area/Sectoral Offices 
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 Figure 6 shows the comparative performance of the five offices in terms 
of the number of cases disposed, as against the total number of cases received. 
OMB-Central Office registered the highest performance ratio with 102% 
disposal rate of the cases it received. OMB-MOLEO follows with 96% case 
disposal rate. OMB-Mindanao and OMB-Visayas follow with 89% and 83% 
case disposal rate, respectively. Finally, OMB-Luzon registered a 48% case 
disposal rate.  The overall performance of the five offices in terms of the 
number of cases disposed of vis-à-vis their respective workload, registered the 
following results: OMB-Central Office - 40%; OMB-Luzon - 33%; OMB-
Visayas - 41%; OMB-Mindanao - 56%; and OMB-MOLEO - 66%. (see Table 4) 
 

TABLE 4.  COMPARATIVE PERFORMANCE AS TO  
TOTAL NUMBER OF CASES DISPOSED AS AGAINST THE TOTAL WORKLOAD  

FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2003 
 

Particulars Total Workload 
of Cases 

Disposed Cases % of Disposed 
over Workload 

OMB-Central 
Office 

3,366 1,346 40% 

OMB-Luzon 4,373 1,452 33% 
OMB-Visayas 3,170 1,290 41% 
OMB-Mindanao 1,702 951 56% 
OMB-MOLEO 3,419 2,263 66% 
TOTAL 16,030 7,302 46% 

 

Figure 7 and Tables 5 and 6 show the breakdown of Criminal and 
Administrative Cases. 

 

 
 

Fig. 7.    Net Workload of Criminal and Administrative Cases  
for the Calendar Year 2003
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TABLE 5.  WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF CRIMINAL CASES 
(OMB DOCKETED AND OSP/TBP TRANSFERRED CASES) 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 
 

PARTICULARS TOTAL CO LUZ VIS MIN MOLEO 

Net Workload of  
Criminal Cases 

 
9,228 

 
1,897 

 
2,434 

 
1,645 

 
1,038 

 
2,214 

Cases received  during the 
year 

5,412 748 1,704    807 656 1,497 

Disposed cases reverted 
back to pending 

 
55 

 
41 

 
1 

 
--- 

 
  3 

 
10 

Carry-over from CY 2002 3,761    1,108 729 838 379 707 
Disposed 4,457 835 847 684      632 1,459 
Prosecution 1,369 197 233 165      135   639 
With Regular Courts 1,278 167 205 152 123 631 
With Sandiganbayan      91   30   28   13   12     8 
Dismissed 2,920 597      614 392    497   820 
Closed and Terminated    168 41 --- 127     ---     ----  
Pending 4,771 1,062 1,587 961    406 755 

(Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 

 
 

TABLE 6.  WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF ADMINISTRATIVE CASES 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 

PARTICULARS TOTAL CO LUZ VIS MIN MOLEO 

Total Workload of  
Administrative Cases 

 
6,802 

 
1,469 

 
1,939 

 
1,525 

 
664 

 
1,205 

Cases received during the 
year 

3,898 572 1,302 747 413 864 

Disposed cases reverted back 
to pending 

 
   48 

 
32 

 
   9 

 
--- 

 
5 

 
2 

Carry-over from CY 2002 2,856 865 628 778 246 338 
Disposed 2,845 511 605 606 319 804 

Penalty Imposed    356 59 99 122 60 16 
Dismissed/Exonerated 1,791 425 492 389 253 232 
Closed and Terminated   698 27 14 95 6 556 
Active/Awaiting Final 
Disposition 

3,957 958 1,334 919 345 401 

(Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 
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Relative to the discharge of administrative investigation and adjudication 
functions, the Office of the Ombudsman has issued, on June 2, 2003, OMB 
Resolution No. 01-03, by virtue of which the personnel assigned to conduct 
preliminary investigation only, and the other personnel assigned to conduct 
solely administrative adjudication, were merged and then divided into three 
bureaus. Each bureau now conducts both preliminary investigation and 
administrative adjudication. Duplication of work, as well as the possibility of 
inconsistent administrative and criminal findings is, therefore, avoided. Further, 
greater productivity is achieved.  
 

The Office of the Ombudsman has also promulgated, on September 15, 
2003, Administrative Order No. 17 amending the Rules on 
Administrative Procedures embodied in Rule III of Administrative Order 
No. 07. The amendment was intended to expedite and render much more 
efficient the administrative adjudication via abbreviated and summary 
proceedings. Formal hearing is not necessary and availed of only where the 
hearing officer himself is of the opinion that it is needed. (Before, any party in 
the proceeding can demand a formal hearing.) Moreover, all criminal 
complaints filed with the Office of the Ombudsman would also be docketed as 
administrative cases, if possible. Thus, upon finding of probable cause, apart 
from a criminal indictment being filed in the court or in cases of a finding of 
substantial evidence, the guilty respondent will be either suspended or 
dismissed immediately from government service. Further, under Administrative 
Order No. 17, decisions of the Office of the Ombudsman in administrative 
cases are immediately executory.  

 
Hence, at least in administrative adjudication, retribution, if warranted, is 

swift; the effects are immediate; and deterrence is ensured – for retribution is 
well within the knowledge, notice and even observation of all those concerned. 
Thus, a suspended incumbent immediately feels and experiences the 
repercussions of his or her illegal act, and those around him become privy to 
the fact that corruption is a high risk, low reward undertaking. Administrative 
Order No. 17 was published on November 3, 2003 and took effect fifteen (15) 
days later. 
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PROFILE OF SIGNIFICANT CRIMINAL CASES 
RESOLVED IN 2003 

 

1.  Cases No.: OMB-C-C-02-0667-J   
OMB-C-C-03-0001-A 

 
Rank/Position of the Accused. Chairman of the Board, Member and 

General Manager, Members, Asst. Gen. Manager, Deputy General Manager for 
Operatives and Technical Services, Deputy General Manager for Finance, 
Manager of the Technical Services Department, Head of the Legal Department, 
Project Management Officer (All of the Public Estates Authority), COA 
Auditors, and Private Respondents.   
 

Summary. Complainants filed a case for Plunder against the Chairman 
of the Board of the Public Estates Authority in connection with a bidding 
conducted in the CBRP project (President Diosdado Macapagal Boulevard) 
that was alleged to be highly irregular considering that the winning bid was 
above the estimated construction cost for the remaining scope of work of the 
project that was the subject of the bidding. Complainants also asserted that the 
respondent officers and members of the old PEA Board rigged and 
manipulated the bidding to insure that the project will be awarded to their 
favored contractor. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found that there was sufficient evidence 
to establish the existence of probable cause to hold respondents for trial for 
violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019. 
 

A review of the records of the case shows that, indeed, the project was 
obviously attended by serious irregularities consisting of the failure to observe 
numerous legal requirements in the bidding stage. The obvious disregard of the 
mandatory legal requirements on appropriation, existence of available funds 
and certificate of availability of funds rendered the contract void and 
respondents criminally liable. 
 
 
2.  Case No.: OMB-0-01-1010   
 

Rank/Position of Accused. Former Chairman, Presidential 
Commission on Good Government 
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Summary. A Complaint for violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019 was 
filed against the former Chairman of the PCGG and other PCGG officials for 
their involvement in the alleged anomalous sale of a sequestered aircraft.  
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found the record of the case to be 
replete with documents and circumstances which show culpability of 
respondents for violation of Section 3(e) of R.A. 3019 based on the theory of 
conspiracy. It is a settled rule that conspiracy need not be established by direct 
evidence, it may be inferred from the conduct of the accused before, during 
and after the commission of the crime, which, if taken all together, would 
reasonably be strong enough to show a community of criminal design. The 
respective related participation of each respondent in the realization of the sale 
of the aircraft was satisfactorily shown by the Complainant. Accordingly, 
respondents were indicted before the Sandiganbayan for violation of Section 
3(e) of R.A. 3019.  
 
 
3.  Case No.: OMB-MIN-01-0183   
 

Ranks/Positions of the Accused. Congressman (First District of 
Surigao del Norte), Regional Director of DILG-Butuan City, Assistant 
Secretary for Support Services and Regional Operations of DILG-Quezon City, 
Regional Director of DILG-Davao City (then Regional Director of DILG-
Caraga Region), Schools Division Superintendent of Dep-Ed in Surigao, 
Administrative Officer III of DECS-DAPA in Surigao del Norte. 
 

Summary. A Complaint for violation of Section 3 (e) and (g) of RA 
3019 was filed against the respondents for the following acts: (1) purchases 
worth P13,832,569.38 out of the Countrywide Development Fund (CDF) 
allocated to respondent Congressman were acquired through direct contracting 
and not through public bidding, as required under Section 3 of Executive 
Order No. 302; (2) purchased items were turned over to respondent 
Congressman for distribution to recipients contrary to the Supreme Court 
Decision limiting the participation of the Congressman to mere proposing and 
identification of the projects; and (3) out of the P13,832,569.38 worth of 
purchases turned over to respondent Congressman, P11,848,663.20 could not 
be accounted for. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found probable cause to believe that a 
violation of Sec. 3 (g) of RA 3019 was committed by most of the respondents 
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including respondent Congressman. Furthermore, the Office of the 
Ombudsman also found probable cause to indict respondent Congressman for 
violation of Section 3 (e) of RA 3019 for failure to account the P11,848,663.20 
worth of purchases turned over to him.        
 
 
4.  Case No.: OMB-0-00-1378  
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: General Manager, People’s Television 
Network 
 

Summary: A Complaint for violations of Sections 3(e) and (g) of RA 
3019 was filed against the General Manager and other employees of the 
People’s Television Network in connection with the alleged irregular payment 
of P500,000 without any approved disbursement voucher duly supported by an 
approved service contract and work accomplished, and other irregularities. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found that there was probable cause to 
charge the respondent General Manager for violation of Section 3(g) of RA 
3019. It was concluded from the records of the case that there was indeed no 
approved contract of services. Furthermore, payment was made without 
observing the proper procedure. Lastly, the engagement of services of the 
favored private company was made without first conducting a public bidding.    
 
 
5. Case No.: OMB-1-01-0795-I 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Governor, Tuguegarao City, Cagayan 
 

Summary: The Complaint stemmed from the alleged overpricing in the 
procurement through direct purchase of one (1) unit of DAEWOO diesel 
generator set amounting to P2,320,000.00 by the provincial government of 
Cagayan resulting from the absence of a public bidding. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found that there was failure to observe 
the prescribed mode of procurement. The neglect of the Provincial Committee 
on Awards to evaluate the capability of the supplier as sole distributor resulted 
in substantial loss or injury to the government. This Office concluded that 
there was probable cause to indict the following public officials and private 
individual for violation of Section 3 (g) of RA 3019. 
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6.  Case No.: OMB-C-C-02-0345-F  
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Provincial Governor, Surigao del 
Norte 
 

Summary: A Complaint for violation of Section 3(e) and (g), RA 3019 
was filed against the Provincial Governor of Surigao del Norte and other 
officials in connection with a bidding that was allegedly rigged to favor five (5) 
medical suppliers who won and were awarded the contracts for the supply of 
medicines and equipment.  
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman concluded that since respondents 
offered no plausible explanation for the gross discrepancy in prices, there is 
sufficient basis for a probable cause finding which should warrant the filing of 
an Information with the Sandiganbayan. 
 
 
7.  Case No.: OMB-0-01-0551   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: City Mayor, Paranaque City 
 

Summary: A Complaint for violation of Section 3(e) and (g) of RA 3019 
was filed against respondents City Mayor and the Head, General Services 
Division, respectively, both of the City Government of Paranaque. The 
Complaint was based on the findings of a COA Special Audit Team which 
resulted in Notices of Disallowances on the payments of ammunitions in the 
total amount of P1,219,650.00 which were issued for the overpricing exceeding 
the limitation set in COA Cir. No. 92-386. Furthermore, there was a finding 
that the arms and ammunition dealer that respondents dealt with was not an 
authorized dealer.     
 

The Office of the Ombudsman found sufficient evidence to warrant the 
finding of probable cause to criminally charge the respondents. The charge 
should be for violations of RA 3019 considering that all the elements are 
present in the instant case. Respondents were public officers, the subject acts 
were done in the discharge of their official functions, the acts were done with 
evident bad faith and manifest partiality and unwarranted benefits, advantage or 
preference were given to favored company plus the fact that undue injury was 
suffered by the city government of Parañaque. 
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8.  Case No.: OMB-0-99-1424   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Head, Land Title Verification Task 
Force of the Land Registration Authority 
 

Summary: The Fact-Finding and Intelligence Bureau (FFIB) filed a 
criminal complaint for violation of Sec. 3(e), R.A. 3019 against the Head of the 
Land Title Verification Task Force (LTV Task Force) of the Land Registration 
Authority (LRA). According to the complainant, respondent conspired with a 
real estate firm to acquire public property, despite available documents showing 
that the firm’s Transfer Certificates of Title were forged. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found sufficient evidence to warrant the 
finding of probable cause to prosecute the respondent. 
 
 There was sufficient evidence showing that the respondent, in the 
performance of his official duties as Head of the LRA Land Title Verification 
Task Force, caused undue injury to the government by giving the real estate 
firm unwarranted benefits through manifest partiality, evident bad faith, or at 
the very least gross inexcusable negligence. The reports submitted by the 
respondent were clearly and ingeniously engineered to obfuscate the issue on 
the regularity of the land titles possessed by the favored real estate firm and, 
further, give aid to the same firm in the government’s case against it. 
Respondent was thereafter charged in court for violation of Section 3, par. (e), 
R.A. No. 3019. 
 
 
9.  Case No.: OMB-0-96-0794    
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Directors/Officers of DBP 
 

Summary: Respondents, as directors and officers of the Development 
Bank of the Philippines (DBP), were charged for violation of Section 3(e) and 
(g) of RA 3019 for approving a loan characterized as a “behest” loan. 

 
The Office of the Ombudsman found probable cause for the 

prosecution of the respondents for violation of Section 3(e) and (g) of Republic 
Act No. 3019. 
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It was established beyond any doubt that the P192 Million loan of 

PACIFICO was not sufficiently collateralized and that PACIFICO, although 
undercapitalized, was able to obtain such a huge amount of loan, deriving 
undue benefit therefrom, to the damage and prejudice of the government. 
 
 
10. Case No.: OMB-M-C-02-0314-F 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Administrator, Southern Philippines 
Development Authority (SPDA) 
 

Summary: The COA Report which was the basis of the Complaint 
stated that the bidding conducted for the intended purchases of several 
equipment by the SPDA was rigged in favor of private respondents. As an 
offshoot of the rigged bidding, the purchased equipment was overpriced by as 
much as P7,108,500, more or less. To make matters worse, respondents still 
paid for the equipment even without delivery. 

 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found sufficient probable cause to indict 
respondents for violation of Section 3(e) and (g) of RA 3019. The SPDA 
Administrator, in particular, was found to have known and approved the said 
rigged bidding, being one of the contact persons of private respondent. The 
overpricing, according to this Office, was the result of the collusion of public 
and private respondents. Finally, respondents failed to prove the delivery and 
acceptance of some of the purchased equipments, a clear manifestation of 
giving unwarranted benefits to the supplier and causing undue injury to the 
government. 
 
 
11.  Case No.: OMB-0-99-2228   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Administrator, Sugar Regulatory 
Administration (SRA) 
 

Summary: A Complaint for violation of Section 3(e) and (g) of RA 3019 
was filed against the then Acting Administrator of the Sugar Regulatory 
Administration, for approving a negotiated sale which was attended with legal 
infirmities. 
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The Office of the Ombudsman found probable cause to indict the 
respondent for violation of Sec 3(g) R.A. 3019. 

 
 Under the facts of the case, which respondent did not controvert, there 
is, indeed, basis to charge the respondent for violation of Sec. 3(g), R.A. 3019. 
The following elements are present: (1) the offender is a public officer; (2) he 
entered into a contract or transaction in behalf of the government; and (3) the 
contract or transaction is grossly and manifestly disadvantageous to the 
government.  
  
 
12. Case No.: OMB-VIS-CRIM-2000-1093 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Regional Director, Fiber Industry 
Development Authority (FIDA), Tacloban City 
 

Summary: The COA findings showed that certain checks were 
encashed upon instructions from respondent Regional Director. The payees of 
the checks denied having received the checks or having endorsed the same. 
Respondents were charged to have violated Article 172, paragraph 2 and Article 
315 paragraph 2.1(b), both of the Revised Penal Code.  
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found prima facie evidence to charge 
respondents with the crime of Malversation through Falsification of Public 
Documents. According to its findings, this Office concluded that respondents 
fraudulently drew, released, encashed and misappropriated the proceeds of 
several checks in the names of FIDA IV employees. 
 
 
13. Case No.: OMB-1-01-1174-L 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Regional Director, Economic 
Intelligence & Investigation Bureau, San Fernando, La Union 

 
Summary: The Complaint alleged that the respondents allegedly 

released without proper clearance from the Bureau of Customs confiscated 
items believed to be smuggled into the country.  
 
 After careful evaluation, the Office of the Ombudsman found sufficient 
evidence to support a finding of probable cause against the respondents. It 
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appeared from the evaluation that the respondent Regional Director released 
the confiscated shipments without the proper payment of the customs taxes 
due to the government. The other respondents participated and benefited from 
the illegal act. Thus, an Information for violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019 
was filed against them. 
 
 
14.  Case No.: OMB-M-C-02-0422-H 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Police Senior Superintendent, PNP-
Regional Office No. XIII, Butuan City 
 

Summary: A Complaint was filed against the respondents for their 
failure to seize and forfeit in favor of the government in accordance with the 
Tariff and Customs Code a vessel and its cargo of about 17,000 sacks of 
smuggled rice worth P18,700,000.00.  
 
 It has been established that the subject vessel was used unlawfully in the 
importation and/or transportation of smuggled articles in commercial 
quantities. Based on the evidence on record, the respondent officials allowed 
the crew of said vessel to cut the ship’s ropes in order for the vessel to escape. 
The failure of the BOC to seize the questioned rice shipment and the subject 
vessel caused undue injury to the government. The evident bad faith on the 
part of the respondent officials also made possible the escape of subject vessel 
and its cargo. Thus, the Office of the Ombudsman found sufficient probable 
cause to charge respondents with violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019.  
 
 
15. Case No.  OMB-MIN-96-0336  
     OMB-MIN-96-0339 
     OMB-MIN-96-0365 
     OMB-MIN-96-0367 
     OMB-MIN-96-0369 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Regional Technical Director, 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Zamboanga City 

 
Summary: The Complaint was an off-shoot of an audit investigation 

conducted by the Commission on Audit which showed the occurrence of 
numerous anomalies in several reforestration projects undertaken by the 
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PENRO-ZAMBOSUR for the period of 01 July 1990 to 31 December 1994. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found that all the essential elements of 
the crime of violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019 are present in this case. The 
respondents signed the vouchers and checks allowing the payment to private 
respondents for services they knew private respondent never rendered. There 
being sufficient evidence supporting a prima facie case, an Information for 
violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019 was filed with the Sandiganbayan.  
 
 
16.  Case No.: OMB-C-C-02-567-I   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Executive Director, Lung Center 
Philippines 
 

Summary: A Complaint for violation of Section 1 of Executive Order 
No. 301 (1987), Section 3 of Implementing Rules of Executive Order 262, and 
Section 3(a) of RA 3019 was filed against the respondents, all officers and 
employees of Lung Center Philippines. The Complaint stated that respondents 
allegedly violated the abovecited laws by knowingly procuring a total of 98 
hospital beds, amounting to P2,311,508.18, without the required public bidding.  
  
 Through their collective and related illegal acts, respondents facilitated 
the purchase of hospital beds from the supplier, in the total amount of 
P2,401,000.00 through mere canvassing or shopping, instead of the required 
public bidding. Accordingly, the Office of the Ombudsman found probable 
cause to prosecute all the respondent officers and employees of the Lung 
Center of the Philippines, with violation of Sec. 3(e), Republic Act (R.A.) No. 
3019, as amended, otherwise known as the Anti-Graft and Corrupt Practices 
Act. 
 
 
17.  Case No.: OMB-0-001475 with ADM-0-00-0754 

 
Rank/Position of the Accused: Director III, Financial Services of the 

Bureau of Customs 
 

Summary: A Complaint for violation of Sec. 3(e) of Republic Act. No. 
3019 and Section 2 of Article 315 of the Revised Penal Code was filed against 
the Director III of the Financial Services of the Bureau of Customs. The 
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Complaint alleged that respondent offered to sell to her a vehicle confiscated 
by the Bureau of Customs despite knowing fully well that the vehicle was not 
offered for bidding and that there are other legal claimants. 
  
 Finding the existence of probable cause, an Information for violation of 
Sec. 3(e) of Republic Act 3019 and Article 315 of the Revised Penal Code was 
filed by the Office of the Ombudsman against the respondent. 

 
Respondent had acted with evident bad faith when he offered the 

subject vehicle to the complainant although he knew, through the function of 
the office he holds, that the same has not been offered for bidding and that 
there are other legal claimants. He defrauded the complainant who trusted him 
as a friend and a responsible officer of the Bureau in order to profit from the 
proceeds of a supposed negotiated sale. 
  
 
18.  Cases No.: OMB-0-00-0885; OMB-C-C-02-0330-F 
     OMB-C-C-02-0331-F; OMB-C-C-02-0332-F 
     OMB-C-C-02-0333-F 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Former Manager, Accounts 
Department, Community Home Mortgage Finance Corporation. 

 
Summary: A Complaint for violation of Section 3(b) of RA 3019 was 

filed against the former manager of the Accounts Department of the 
Community Home Mortgage Finance Corporation, for allegedly demanding 
several sums of money from the complainants in consideration for the 
preparation of documents pertaining to their request as substitute beneficiary in 
the PNR Medina Community Mortgage Program.  
 

In collecting money from different complainants, respondent used his 
position and power in order to illegally make money. Thus, the Office of the 
Ombudsman found that there was probable cause to hold respondent liable for 
one count of Section 3(b) of RA 3019.  
 
 
19.  Case No.: OMB-0-01-0960   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Securities Counsel III, Securities and 
Exchange Commission 
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Summary: Complaints for violation of Article 210 of the Revised Penal 
Code, Section 7(d), in relation to Section 11(a) of RA 6713, Section 3(b) of RA 
3019 and Perjury were initiated against the Securities Counsel III of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. According to the Complaint, respondent 
advised them that the “cease and desist order” against G. Cosmos Philippines 
will be effective for a longer period unless an “under the table deal” is resorted 
to. Respondent went on to solicit a substantial amount of money in exchange 
for the lifting of the “cease and desist” order.    
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman concluded that the act of public 
respondent in soliciting and demanding P1,000,000.00 from private 
respondents, in exchange for the lifting of the Cease and Desist Order issued 
by the SEC, clearly comes within the purview of the law. Public Respondent’s 
request for a “facilitation fee” or a “contingent fee” as a prerequisite or 
condition to the favorable resolution of G. Cosmos Philippines’ Motion to Lift 
the Cease and Desist order is the consideration or benefit sought to be derived 
by public respondent as payment for his intervention.  
 
 
20.  Case No.: OMB-0-00-0464   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Intelligence Agent and Acting Chief, 
Security Group, Economic Intelligence and Investigation Bureau. 

 
Summary: A complaint for Malversation of Public Property under 

Article 217 of the Revised Penal Code was filed against the respondents, 
including the Intelligence Acting Chief of the Security Group of the Economic 
Intelligence and Investigation Bureau and other respondents for the loss of 
complainant’s vehicle while in the custody and possession of respondents 
public officers.  
 
 It was clear that the respondent, being the Acting Chief Security of EIIB, 
who was entrusted with the custody of the said vehicle, was liable. Being the 
Chief Security Officer, his responsibility and duty was to secure the EIIB 
premises together with the items/properties within the said premises. 
Unfortunately, respondent failed to perform his duty due to his gross 
negligence and was therefore liable for the loss of complainant’s vehicle. 
 
 After due evaluation, the Office of the Ombudsman found sufficient 
evidence to warrant a finding of probable cause for the prosecution of the 
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respondent Intelligence Acting Chief  for Malversation of Public Property 
through negligence. The Office also found sufficient evidence to warrant a 
finding of probable cause for the prosecution of same respondent for violation 
of Section 3(e) of RA 3019. 
  

 
 
 

PROFILE OF SIGNIFICANT ADMINISTRATIVE CASES 
RESOLVED IN 2003 

 
 
1.  Cases No.: OMB-ADM-0-00-0336  

(OMB-0-0-0657)  
       

Rank/Position of the Accused: Commissioner, Commission on the 
Settlement of Land Problems 

 
Summary: A Complaint for Grave Misconduct and Harassment was 

filed against the Commissioner of the Commission on the Settlement of Land 
Problems and other respondents in connection with the demolition of the 
houses of the Complainants. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found respondents guilty of the 
administrative offense of GRAVE MISCONDUCT with the penalty of 
DISMISSAL FROM THE SERVICE with FORFEITURE OF 
RETIREMENT BENEFITS, CANCELLATION OF ELIGIBILITY, AND 
THE PERPETUAL DISQUALIFICATION FOR REEMPLOYMENT IN 
THE GOVERNMENT SERVICE. 

 
The laws cited by respondents to justify demolition were inapplicable 

and inappropriate. Besides, nowhere was there any finding that the structures 
were dangerous and ruinous that may justify their demolition.  
 
 
2.  Case No.: OMB-C-A-03-0347-I     
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Undersecretary, Department of Public 
Works and Highways (DPWH) 
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Summary: The Philippine National Police-Criminal Investigation and 
Detection Group filed a Complaint for violation of Sections 4 (h) and 8(a) of 
R.A. 6713, Grave Misconduct and Dishonesty against the Undersecretary of 
the Department of Public Works and Highways (DPWH). According to the 
Complaint, the investigation disclosed, among others, that respondent has 
accumulated real properties in various places in Sta. Maria, Bulacan which are 
grossly disproportionate to his lawful income. Complainant asserted that 
respondent should be preventively suspended during the pendency of the 
administrative investigation against him in order to prevent him from further 
committing acts of impropriety in public office. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found that the evidence fully warrants 
the PREVENTIVE SUSPENSION of respondent pending the conduct of the 
administrative proceedings at bar.   
 

In relation to Section 9, Rule III of Administrative Order No. 07, 
respondent Undersecretary of the Department of Public Works and Highways, 
was placed under preventive suspension for SIX (6) MONTHS WITHOUT 
PAY. 
 
  
3.  Cases No.: OMB-C-A-02-0247-F  

(OMB-C-C-02-0354-F) 
 
Rank/Position of the Accused: Vice President for Academic Affairs, 

Eulogio “Amang” Rodriquez Intitute of Science and Technology (EARIST) 
 

Summary: A female student of Eulogio “Amang” Rodriguez Institute 
of Science and Technology (EARIST) filed a Complaint against Vice President 
for Academic Affairs of the above-cited school for sexual advances on her 
despite her continuous resistance. 
 
 The Office found respondent guilty of GRAVE MISCONDUCT and 
meted the penalty of DISMISSAL FROM SERVICE. The probability that 
respondent was with the complainant on the day of the incident was shown by 
established facts on record. Besides, the record is bereft with proof that the 
complainant, in filing the case, was motivated by personal grudge or ulterior 
intention against the respondent. 
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4.  Case No.: OMB-C-A-03-0346-I     
 
Rank/Position of the Accused: Regional Director, Department of 

Public Works and Highways (DPWH) 
 

Summary: The Philippine National Police-Criminal Investigation and 
Detection Group filed a case for violation of Sections 4(h) and 8(a) of RA 6713 
for Grave Misconduct and Dishonesty against the Regional Director of DPWH. 
According to the Complaint, respondent has accumulated wealth that is grossly 
disproportionate to his lawful income. Complainant asserted that respondent 
should be preventively suspended pending administrative investigation in order 
to prevent him from further committing acts of impropriety in public office.  
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found that the evidence fully warranted 
the PREVENTIVE SUSPENSION of respondent pending the conduct of the 
administrative proceedings at bar. Considering the strong evidence of guilt 
against respondent and the fact that the charges against him consist of Grave 
Misconduct/Dishonesty which may warrant his removal from the service, it 
was declared that the requirements under Sec. 24, R.A. 6770 in relation to Sec. 
9, Rule III of A.O. No. 7 as amended, were present in this case. His preventive 
suspension pending administrative investigation of the present case for a period 
of six (6) months without pay was therefore clearly justified. 
 
 
5. Case No.: OMB-M-A-02-164-F    
      

Rank/Position of the Accused: Former Administrator, Southern 
Philippines Development Authority (SPDA) 
 

Summary: The COA Report, which was the basis of the Complaint, 
stated that the bidding conducted for the intended purchases of several 
equipment by the SPDA was rigged in favor of private respondents. As an 
offshoot of the rigged bidding, the purchased equipment was overpriced by as 
much as P7,108,500 more or less. To make matters worse, respondents still 
paid for the equipment even without delivery. Thus, respondents were 
administratively charged with Neglect of Duty and Misconduct. 

 
The Office of the Ombudsman found that the former SPDA 

Administrator approved the payment of tractors without first ascertaining 
whether the purchased tractors were indeed delivered in the premises of SPDA. 
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He also failed to note that the subject tractors were kept in the warehouse of 
the supplier and not at the SPDA. He also failed to oversee the distribution of 
the tractors to the beneficiaries. This Office imposed the penalty of 
DISMISSAL from public service on some of the respondents, including the 
former administrator of SPDA. 

 
 

6. Case No.: OMB-M-02-157-F    
      

Rank/Position of the Accused: Regional Director, Department of 
Environment and Natural Resources, Davao City 
 

Summary: A Complaint was filed against respondents for their alleged 
intentional failure to act expeditiously and implement a DENR Decision to the 
prejudice of the complainant.  
 
 The records disclosed that the DENR Secretary’s Decision dated 26 
October 1994 ordering the respondent to release to the complainant all the 
rentals deposited in trust to the DENR, became final. It was only on 03 
October 2000 that respondent Regional Director issued an Execution Order 
directing the Assistant Director for Technical Services to cause the execution 
of the subject Decision. Thus, this Office found substantial evidence to declare 
respondents liable for GROSS NEGLECT OF DUTY with a penalty of ONE 
(1) YEAR SUSPENSION WITHOUT PAY. 
 
 
7. Case No.: OMB-L-A-02-0069-B  
      

Rank/Position of the Accused: Area Manager, National Power 
Corporation (NPC), Santiago City 
 

Summary: The Complainant alleged that respondents offered him a 
project coupled with a condition that the excess payment of actual work to be 
done will be given to respondent Area Manager. It was stipulated in the 
purchase order that the contract was for the removal and transit hauling of 253 
cubic meters of soil. However, the actual volume of excess soil that complaint 
removed and hauled was only five (5) cubic meters. Thus, they charged 
respondents with Dishonesty and Acts inimical to Public Service. 
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The Office of the Ombudsman found that there was substantial 
evidence to hold respondents administratively liable for DISHONESTY. Thus, 
a penalty of ONE (1) YEAR SUSPENSION was imposed against the 
respondents. 
 
 
8.  Case No.: OMB-MIN-ADM-01-192   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Municipal Treasurer 
 

Summary: The Complainant accused respondent of gross misconduct 
in withdrawing P360,000.00 without supporting vouchers and without 
recording the same in the cashbook, incurring unliquidated cash advances 
totaling P171,256.00, and making other unrecorded withdrawals amounting to 
P700,000.00. 
 

The Office of the Ombudsman found respondent GUILTY of GRAVE 
MISCONDUCT pursuant to Resolution NO. 991936, otherwise known as the 
Uniform Rules on Administrative Cases in the Civil Service, and was meted the 
corresponding penalty of DISMISSAL FROM THE SERVICE, together with 
all the accessory penalties appurtenant thereto. 

 
In the instant case, the respondent appears to have used her expertise in 

financial management to obfuscate the subject transactions for the purpose of 
concealing financial anomalies. 
 
 
9.  Case No.: OMB-ADM-0-01-0597   
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Securities Counsel III, Securities and 
Exchange Commission 
 

Summary: The Bureau of the Resident Ombudsman filed an 
administrative case for Grave Misconduct and Dishonesty against a Security 
Counsel III of the Securities and Exchange Commission. According to the 
Complaint, respondent received P350,000 from G. Cosmos Philippines in 
consideration of his act of helping the GCP in its case before the SEC while in 
the discharge of his official function as Securities Counsel III.  

 
The Office of the Ombudsman found respondent guilty of Grave 

Misconduct and Dishonesty and imposed upon him the penalty of 
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DISMISSAL FROM THE SERVICE with FORFEITURE of all retirement 
benefits and accrued leave credits, and with prejudice to re-employment in any 
branch or instrumentality of the government including government-owned or 
controlled corporations. 
 

The elements of GRAVE MISCONDUCT were all present in this case. 
Conflicting and misleading statements affect respondent’s credibility. It is to be 
noted that respondent is a SEC employee holding the position of Securities 
Counsel III; hence, he is a quasi-judicial officer who is duty-bound to observe 
fairness and objectivity in all his actions.  

 
 
10.  Cases No.: OMB-C-A-02-0293-G  

(OMB-C-C-02-0427-G) 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Collection Officer, National Printing 
Office 
 

Summary: An audit examination conducted by the Commission on 
Audit revealed that respondent Acting Collection Officer was found short in 
her cash and account in the amount of P367,306.64. The Commission on Audit 
filed a Complaint for Dishonesty, Grave Misconduct, and Conduct Prejudicial 
to the Best Interest of the Service against the respondents. 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman found respondent Collection Officer 
guilty of DISHONESTY and was meted the penalty of DISMISSAL from the 
Service with the accessory penalty of Forfeiture of Retirement Benefits and 
Disqualification for Re-employment in the Public Service. The Audit finding 
was based on the Report of Cash Examination, the Narrative Report (General 
Fund 101), and the Reconciliation Statement of Accountability of respondent 
collection officer. These reports were uncontroverted by the respondents. 
 
 
11.  Case No.: OMB-C-A-03-0200-F  
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Assistant Revenue Regional Officer 
(formerly of the Revenue Regional Office # 2, now with the Office of the 
Commissioner, Bureau of Internal Revenue) 
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Summary: An Administrative Complaint for Dishonesty and Conduct 
Prejudicial to the Best Interest of the Service was filed against respondent for 
falsifying his Personal Data Sheet (PDS) in stating therein that he passed the 
Management Analyst/Career Service Professional Exam given by the Civil 
Service Commission on July 21, 1968 in Manila.  
 
 After finding out that the provisions under Section 9, Rule III of the 
Administrative Order No. 07, in relation to Section 24 of Republic Act No. 
6770, were satisfied, the Office of the Ombudsman placed respondent under 
preventive suspension for six (6) months.  
 
 
12.  Cases No.: OMB-C-A-2-0108-C   

(OMB-C-C-02-0140-C) 
 

Rank/Position of the Accused: Intelligence Officer I, Bureau of 
Customs 
 

Summary: A Complaint for Dishonesty and Non-submission of 
Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Networth was filed against an Intelligence 
Officer I of the Bureau of Customs.  
 
 Pursuant to the provisions of RA 6713, respondent was meted the 
penalty of SIX (6) MONTHS SUSPENSION from service without pay. The 
purported copies of his SALN which he submitted as evidence to prove his 
compliance with the law are not admissible for there is no clear showing that 
these documents were officially filed with the BOC. 
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FACT-FINDING AND INTELLIGENCE 

 
The Fact-finding and Intelligence Bureau (FFIB) and the concerned units 

of the area/sectoral offices received a total of 2,730 complaints/cases for fact-
finding and intelligence work.  Of this figure, OMB-Central Office received 640 
cases/complaints or 23%; OMB-Luzon, 486 cases or 18%; OMB-Mindanao, 
1,204 cases or 44%; and, OMB-MOLEO, 400 cases or 15%.  Added to these 
newly received complaints/cases were the 1,564 cases still pending as of 
December 31, 2002 which resulted to the total workload of 4,294 cases. With the 
221 complaints/cases referred to other OMB offices and other government 
agencies for appropriate action, net workload was 4,073 detailed, as follows: 
OMB-Central Office with 1,729 or 42%; OMB-Luzon with 591 or 15%; OMB-
Mindanao with 1,193 or 29%; and, OMB-MOLEO with 560 or 14%. The 221 
referred complaints/cases were already included in the total received of the 
concerned offices. (see Table 7) 

 
TABLE 7.  WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF CASES FOR FACT-FINDING  

AND INTELLIGENCE WORK AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 
 

PARTICULARS TOTAL CO LUZ MIN MOLEO 
Total Workload of 
Complaints/Cases 

4,073 1,729 591 1,193 560 

    Complaints/Cases Received 2,730    640 486 1,204 400 
    Add:  Carry-over – CY 2002 1,564 1,121 105 178 160 
 Less:  Cases Referred to other 
OMB     Offices & Other Gov’t. 
Agencies 

 
221 

 
32 

 
--- 

 
189 

 
--- 

(Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 
 

 Fact-finding and intelligence work was completed/terminated with respect 
to 2,136 complaints/cases. Of this number, 1,934 cases or 91% were 
recommended for dismissal and 202 or 9% referred for preliminary investigation 
and/or administrative adjudication. 
 

TABLE 8.  STATUS OF CASES FOR FACT-FINDING AND INTELLIGENCE WORK                                                            

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 
 

Particulars Total CO LUZ MIN MOLEO 

Workload of Complaints/Cases 4,073 1,729 591 1,193 560 
Fact-Finding Investigation 
Completed/Terminated 

 
2,136 

 
453 

 
369 

 
1,022 

 
292 

    For Dismissal 1,934 340 369 990 235 
    For P.I./Admin. Adjudication 202 113  32 57 
Pending Complaints/Cases 1,937 1,276 222 171 268 
(Source: Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 
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PROSECUTION 
 

 
Pursuant to Republic Act (RA) 7975, as amended by RA 8249, the 

Office of the Special Prosecutor (OSP) is primarily tasked to prosecute cases 
cognizable by the Sandiganbayan and to represent the People of the Philippines 
in appealed cases from the regular courts to the Sandiganbayan and from the 
Sandiganbayan to the Supreme Court. The OSP is also tasked to conduct 
preliminary investigation and to review cases referred to it by the Office of the 
Ombudsman. 
 
 
HIGHLIGHTS OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS 
 
 For the year in review, OSP received a total of 62 cases from the various 
offices for review and recommendation of resolutions.  A total of 1,323 
referred cases were acted upon by the OSP with breakdown as follows:  
referred to other courts/proper forum - 13 or 1% and for disposition by the 
Ombudsman - 1,310 or 99%.  (see Table 9) 
 

TABLE 9.   NUMBER OF CASES REFERRED, RECEIVED 
AND ACTED UPON BY THE OSP FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2003 

 
Particulars No. of Cases 

 I.   For review of recommendation of Resolution      62 
II.   Referred Cases Acted Upon 1,323 
          Referred to other courts/proper forum     13 
          For disposition by the OMB  1,310 

    (Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 

 

Considering the 198 cases referred to OSP in CY 2002, a big decrease of 
69% or 136 cases was noted compared with the 62 referred cases this year.   
Likewise, there was a big decrease of 20% or 321 cases from the 1,644 acted 
upon last year as compared to 1,323 cases acted upon this year. 
 
 A total of 199 informations were prepared during the year, of which 
140 or 70% were filed and 59 or 30% were still for filing with the 
Sandiganbayan. (see Table 10) 
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TABLE 10.   NUMBER OF INFORMATION PREPARED  

AND FILED BEFORE THE SANDIGANBAYAN 
FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2003 

 
Particulars No. of Cases 

 I.   For Filing of Information with the Sandiganbayan 59 
II.   Number of Information filed before the    

Sandiganbayan (per count) 
140 

Total 199 
    (Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 

 
 
For CY 2003, a total of 136 criminal cases were filed by OSP for 

prosecution with the Sandiganbayan. With 14 cases revived, 4 adjustments and 
2,562 still pending prosecution as of the end of CY 2002, workload of cases 
totaled 2,716. (see Table 11) 
 

 
TABLE 11.  WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF CRIMINAL CASES  

FILED WITH THE SANDIGANBAYAN  
 AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 

TOTAL WORKLOAD OF CRIMINAL CASES    2,716 
          Cases Filed                     136 
               Pending Arrest 113 
               Pending Arraignment 16 
               Appealed Cases 7 
           Cases Revived                       14 
           Adjustment          4 
           Carry-Over from CY 2002   2,562 
               Criminal Cases 2,550 
                    Pending Arrest      33 
                    Under Reinvestigation or Reconsideration  
                    by the Ombudsman 

 
    542 

                    Pending Arraignment      427 
                    Pending Pre-Trial     201 
                    Cases Pending Trial     766 
                     Suspended Proceedings     249 
                     Submitted for Decision     332 
               Appealed 12 
                    Pending Submission of Briefs        4 
                    Submitted for Decision        8 

    (Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 
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TABLE 12.  STATUS OF CRIMINAL CASES FILED 

WITH THE SANDIGANBAYAN 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
Total Workload of Criminal 
Cases 

2,716 

Less:  Disposed Criminal Cases    478 
Criminal Cases Pending Trial as 
of December 31, 2003 

2,238 

 
 
 The 136 criminal cases filed with the Sandiganbayan in 2003 were a 
decrease of 441 or 76% from the 577 criminal cases filed in CY 2002 while the 
total workload of 2,716 were 468 or 15% less than the 3,184 workload last year. 
 

TABLE 13.  DISPOSAL OF CASES FILED WITH THE SANDIGANBAYAN  
BY THE OSP FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2003 

 
PARTICULARS NO. OF CASES PERCENTAGE 

   Returned to Ombudsman 1 .2% 
   Transferred to Other Courts 7 1% 
   Withdrawn by Ombudsman/OSP 29 6% 
    Dismissed/Withdrawn 1 .2% 
    Dismissed/Archived 21 4% 
    Dismissed without Trial 99 21% 
    Pleaded Guilty 1 .2% 
    Archived without Prejudice 5 1% 
    Appealed Cases 4 1% 
    Terminated after Trial 310 65% 
           Convicted   28 9% 
           Convicted/Dismissed     1 .3% 
           Convicted/Archived     6 2% 
           Convicted/Acquitted/Archived     2 .6% 
           Convicted/Acquitted     2 1% 
           Convicted/Acquitted/Dismissed     3 1% 
           Acquitted 195   63% 
           Acquitted/Archived   45 15% 
           Dismissed with Trial     5 2% 
           Dismissed with Trial/Dismissed     3 1% 
           Acquitted/Archived/Dismissed     6 2% 
           Acquitted/Dismissed   13 4% 
          Acquitted/Dismissed/Archived/Withdrawn     1 .3% 

TOTAL 478 100% 

 

During the year 
2003, 478 cases were 
disposed of resulting to 
the balance of 2,238 
criminal cases pending 
prosecution before the 
Sandiganbayan by the end 
of CY 2003.  (see Table 12) 
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Table 13 above shows the breakdown of 478 cases disposed of by the 

Sandiganbayan for the calendar year 2003.   
 

The 478 criminal cases disposed of this year represented a decrease of 
144 cases or 23% compared with the 622 cases disposed of in CY 2002. 
 
 Pending cases with the Sandiganbayan as of the end of the year was 
2,238, of which 2,223 or 99% were criminal cases and 15 or 1% were appealed 
cases.  The criminal cases comprised of cases pending arrest - 52 or 2%; cases 
under re-investigation or reconsideration by the Ombudsman - 129 or 6%; 
cases pending trial - 848 or 38%; cases with suspended proceedings - 189 or 
9%; cases submitted for decision - 118 or 5%.  The Appealed Cases included 8 
or 53% pending submission of Briefs and 7 or 47% submitted for decision.  (see 
Table  14) 
 
 

TABLE 14.  NUMBER OF CASES PENDING WITH THE SANDIGANBAYAN 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
PARTICULARS NO. OF 

CASES 
PERCENTAGE 

   Criminal Cases 2,223 99% 
        Pending Arrest    53   2% 
        Under Reinvestigation or Reconsideration  
        by the Ombudsman 

 
 129 

 
  6% 

        Pending Arraignment  733 33% 
        Pending Pre-Trial  153    7% 
        Pending Trial  848  38% 
        With Suspended Proceedings  189   9% 
         Submitted for Decision  118   5% 
   Appealed 15 1% 
        Pending Submission of Briefs     8  53% 
        Submitted for Decision     7  47% 
Criminal Cases Pending Trial 
   as of December 31, 2003 

 
2,238 

 
100% 

 
 A reduction of 324 cases or 13% was noted when this year’s 2,238 
pending cases was compared with last year’s 2,562 pending criminal cases with 
the Sandiganbayan. 
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LEGAL AFFAIRS 

 
 

The Office of the Ombudsman has its Office of the Legal Affairs (OLA) 
which acts as the legal arm of the Office.  Among its major functions include 
the following:  acts on appeals or petitions for review on decisions, resolutions 
or final orders issued by the area and sectoral offices of the OMB in 
administrative disciplinary and criminal cases; represents the Office in, or in 
coordination with the Office of the Solicitor General acts upon, appeals and/or 
original petitions for certiorari, prohibition or mandamus filed before the Court 
of Appeals, Supreme Court or any other court involving the decisions, 
resolutions or orders of the Office in administrative disciplinary cases and acts 
upon original special civil actions except those falling within the jurisdiction of 
the OSP, in criminal cases resolved or disposed of by the OMB; represents the 
Office in any other case before the courts and quasi-judicial bodies where the 
interests of the Office are involved.  
 
  For the calendar year 2003, it has accomplished the following:  cases 
reviewed - 146, legal opinions rendered - 69; pleadings/substantive motions 
filed before the Supreme Court/Court of Appeals - 141; legal articles prepared 
- 85; and, communications/letters/indorsements prepared - 768. 
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GRAFT PREVENTION PROGRAMS 

 
 

The second component of the national anti-corruption strategy of the 
Office of the Ombudsman is intensive corruption prevention. Its objective is 
to nip in the bud any distorted ideas or schemes to steal from the government 
coffers. Also, it is not merely to enlist the support of the citizenry in graft 
detection but to produce a new breed of Filipinos with strong moral character.  
 
 Graft prevention activities are mainly being carried out by the Public 
Assistance and Corruption Prevention Office (PACPO) through the 
Community Coordination Bureau (CCB) and the Public Assistance Bureau 
(PAB). The corresponding units in the area/sectoral offices support the 
programs and various projects of the Office with focus on the following areas 
of concern: community mobilization, conduct of seminars, dialogues and 
workshops, as well as undertaking of educational and motivational programs on 
graft and corruption prevention. 
 

Community Coordination Bureau 
 
EHEM! AHA!  PROGRAM 
 

On October 13, 2003, the Office of the Ombudsman, represented by 
Honorable Tanodbayan Simeon V. Marcelo, signed a Memorandum of 
Agreement with the Philippine Province of the Society of Jesus (PPSJ), 
represented by the Rev. Fr. Romeo J. Intengan, SJ, for the setting up of an 
innovative anti-corruption program titled “EHEM! AHA!”. This program is 
intended to create a graft intolerant culture not only in the government but in 
the entire Philippine society as well. This working memorandum constitutes a 
major project for the Office of the Ombudsman in 2003 with respect to the 
proper understanding of graft and corruption, its incidences, causes and 
dimensions. The proper appreciation of the problem, therefore, contributes in 
the formulation of effective and responsive anti-corruption programs. 
 
 EHEM! is a guttural voice to make known our disenchantment in a 
subtle but deep manner.  Ehem! will announce our presence/protest in one 
word that say many things.  It is very distinct from other anti-corruption 
programs because it does not point a finger to somebody nor intended to 
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blame any person.  Ehem! will allow us to look at ourselves and see how we 
become part of the problem and more importantly, provide solution to the 
problem. 
 
 AHA! complements and supports EHEM! in the sense that Aha! 
culminates in the filing of a complaint against, and the prosecution of, an erring 
public official who remains undeterred and unaffected by the less emphatic yet 
more culturally understandable reminders, innuendos, or hints for the erring 
public official to already stop his corrupt practices.  
  
 The first trainors’ training was held at the Institute of Social Order, 
Ateneo de Manila University.  The 3-day training seminar was participated in  
by 20 trainees from OMB-Central Office, OMB-Luzon, OMB-Visayas and 
OMB-Mindanao.  They now form the core of trainors who will conduct the 
same seminar for all OMB officers and employees, for the Corruption 
Prevention Units (CPUs) and the Junior Graftwatch Units in their respective 
areas/offices.   
 
CORRUPTION PREVENTION UNITS (CPUS) 
 
 The Office through the Community Coordination Bureau (CCB) has 
temporarily suspended the accreditation of CPUs from January to June 2003 
pending review of the CPU Manual.  Upon the approval of the 2003 CPU 
Manual in July, all existing CPUs were given ninety (90) days to apply for re-
accreditation under the new guidelines. Accreditation of 491 CPUs were 
terminated when they failed to apply during the 90-day period. As of December 
31, 2003, only 4 CPUs who met the minimum requirements for accreditation in 
accordance with the 2003 CPU Manual were given accreditation by the Office 
of the Ombudsman.  These were distributed as follows:  2 from the National 
Capital Region (NCR), 1 from Luzon, and 1 from Mindanao.  (see Table 15) 
 

TABLE 15.  NUMBER OF ACCREDITED CORRUPTION PREVENTION UNITS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
CPUs Total Accredited 

Before the New 
Guidelines 

Terminated in CY 
2003 

Total Accredited 
Based on the New 

Guidelines 
NCR 121 119 2 
Luzon 25 24 1 
Visayas 167 167 0 
Mindanao 182 181 1 
Total 495 491 4 
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JUNIOR GRAFTWATCH UNITS (JGUS)  
 
 During the year, a total of 214 JGUs were accredited with breakdown as 
follows:  NCR - 11; Luzon - 98; Mindanao - 105.  These brought the total 
number of JGUs accredited as of December 31, 2003 to 1,933.  Of these figure, 
NCR accredited 163 or 8%; Luzon, 435 or 23%; Visayas, 454 or 23%; and, 
Mindanao, 881 or 46%.  (see Table 16) 
 

TABLE 16.  NUMBER OF ACCREDITED JUNIOR GRAFTWATCH UNITS (JGUS) 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
 

JGUs 
Total Accredited  

As of December 31, 2002 
Accredited  
for CY 2003 

Total Accredited  
To Date 

NCR 152 11 163 
Luzon 337 98 435 
Visayas 454 -- 454 
Mindanao 776 105 881 
Total 1,719 214 1,933 

 
 

With regard to JGU activities, 18 complaints/requests for assistance 
were indorsed by JGUs; 193 consultations/dialogues to other youth groups 
were held; a JGU Leadership Effectiveness Seminar and 4 symposia on the 
Role of the Youth in the Fight against Graft and Corruption were conducted; 
the JGU Officers-of-the-Week Summer Program was completed.  
 
 The Educational Multi-Event Competitions in celebration of the 7th 
JGU Anniversary was held in October 2003. Primarily, it aims to give 
recognition to the efforts of the JGUs in promoting the thrusts and objectives 
of the Office and to strengthen the sense of camaraderie among JGUs through 
various cultural, social, academic integration activities that would inspire and 
encourage youth organizations to join the JGU Program.  It was participated in 
by more than 300 Junior Graftwatchers from the high school and college levels.  
“Pinag-ibayong Lakas ng Kabataan, Matibay na Kalasag Laban sa Katiwalian” was the 
theme in this year’s anniversary celebration. Activities and competitions include 
Extemporaneous Speech, Essay Writing Contests, On-The-Spot Comic and 
Photo Exhibit. The elections of Officers of the JGU NCR Council for CY 
2003-2004 also took place and the JGU NCR Luzon Advisers’ Assembly was 
also formed.  
 
 In December 2003, the Annual Outreach Program - MAKIBATA, a 
joint activity of the Office of the Ombudsman and the JGU-NCR 
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Coordinating Councils was held. About one hundred fifty (150) indigent 
children from Brgy. Bagong Pag-Asa, Agham Road, Diliman, Quezon City and 
Brgy. Sauyo, Novaliches, Quezon City benefited from this undertaking. 
 
 

Profiles of JGU Assisted Requests  
for Assistance (RAs) Cases, Complaints 

 
 
JGU-CPL-03-0003 
 
 This is a complaint of Mr. Julius S. Galang, Executive Director of the 
NCR Junior Graftwatch Coordinating Council, on behalf of the concerned 
citizens of Pier 18, Manila against officials of the City of Manila for alleged 
operation of an open dump site at the said area. 
 
The matter was referred to the JGU/CPU Task Group for case building and 
fact-finding which in turn brought the case to the Office of the Secretary of 
DENR for appropriate and immediate action. 
 
JGU-CPL-03-0004 
 
 This pertains to the complaint of Mr. Osito C. del Monte, President of 
JGU-City College of Manila on the alleged maltreatment and violation of RA 
6713 committed by Police Officer Roberto D. Cajilles, Professor of College of 
Criminology, City College of Manila and Ms. Angela Ocampo, Executive Staff 
of the Dean of the same college. 
 
 The case was referred to the JGU/CPU Task Group where they 
recommended the dismissal of the case against Ms. Ocampo but recommended 
the filing of administrative case against PO Roberto Cajilles in the OMB-
MOLEO.  The latter was meted a two-month suspension from office without 
pay.  
 
 
RESEARCH/THESIS ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
 
 There were two thesis/research assistance granted for the calendar year 
2003: First was titled “Strategy for the Institutionalization of Global Best 
Practices for the Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for the Military” 
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presented to the Asian Institute of Management (AIM) by Atty. Rafael G. 
Hipolito, Graft Investigation Officer from the OMB-Military.  The other thesis 
was presented by Ms. Jodie Jane L. Cabuyao titled “The NBI Employees’ 
Perception of Graft and Corruption and the Latter’s Effects on Their 
Performance (NCR Level)” to the Department of Social Science College of 
Arts and Sciences, University of the Philippines, Manila.   
 
 
INFORMATION DISSEMINATION  
 
 This program aims to inform the public of our graft prevention 
campaign and educate them on the means to deter corruption. This leads to 
self-transformation into becoming morally reformed individuals. This year, 
CCB prepared and released news articles and speeches. For the year, the OMB 
Journal for the 15th Anniversary with the theme “Winning the War Against 
Corruption Through an Enhanced Prosecution and Graft Prevention” 
was prepared. Copies were distributed to OMB officials and employees and to 
other government agencies and researchers.   
 
 Preparation and production of the following information materials were 
facilitated: Annual Report for CY 2002, OMB Primer, JGU Primer, Graft 
Prevention Education Modules; CPU Primer; CPU Manual; and Primer on 
Research/Thesis Assistance Program. These information materials including 
Compilation of Laws were distributed to students and the general public as well. 
Other information materials were also provided to the OMB Website for 
updating. 
 
  The PACPO Proper issued press releases and its officials appeared on 
radio and television on matters concerning the Office of the Ombudsman. 
 
 
ORIENTATION BRIEFING 
 

Four (4) Orientation Briefings were facilitated by CCB during the year 
for the following: Officials of the Ministry of Law, Justice and Parliamentary 
Affairs of the Kingdom of Nepal on June 11 and November 19, 2003; 
Judges/Court Officials of the Kingdom of Nepal on August 15, 2003; and 
graduating Political Science students of the Palawan State University. OMB 
powers and functions, organizational structure, national anti-corruption 
strategies and OMB accomplishments were presented during the briefings. 
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PUBLIC ACCOUNTABILITY SEMINAR/ 
VALUES ORIENTATION WORKSHOP (VOW) 
 
 In its effort to strengthen public accountability of government servants 
in order to increase the service orientation of the work force in the bureaucracy, 
the Office of the Ombudsman conducted seminars in Public Accountability in 
selected government agencies. For this year, a total of 20 batches underwent 
these seminars, these batches came from the following requesting agencies:  
Eastern Pangasinan of Agriculture College; Office of the Inspector General; 
Office of Civil Defense (2 batches); East Avenue Medical Center;  LGUs from 
the Bontoc Mt. Province;  Brgy. Pembo, Makati City; Department of 
Transportation & Communication (2 batches); Officials & Employees from the 
Bicol Region; Brgy. Officials of Brgy. Sta. Lucia, Pasig City;  Association of 
Government Internal Auditors; Parole and Probation Administration; 
Philippine Ports Authority; Mangatarem High School, Pangasinan; Officials 
from Pozorobio, Pangasinan; LGUs of Rodriguez, Rizal; City College of Manila; 
Marikina High School (2 batches); and, Bureau of Customs. 
 
 The 28th Batch of the Values OrientationWorkshop was conducted on 
October 28-30, 2003, which was attended by the employees from various OMB 
offices. 
 
(Note:  Graft prevention activities undertaken by the different area offices were included in the 
Regional and Sectoral Activities of this Annual Report) 
 
 



2003 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 

 

 41 
 

  

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE BUREAU 
 
 

Another major function of the Office of the Ombudsman is to provide a 
responsive and efficient public assistance center.  Under the Ombudsman 
Act of 1989 (RA 6770), the Ombudsman may extend public service to citizens 
in getting from the government the basic public services like health care, power 
supply, water services, personnel work benefits and clearances for retirement.  
And so, the Office of the Ombudsman, through the Public Assistance Bureau 
(PAB) and the corresponding units in the OMB regional offices, takes charge 
of all the requests for assistance (RAs) and promptly acts on them to ensure 
that government agencies will act on citizens’ needs. 
 
 A total of 10,130 requests for assistance were received during the year 
2003.  These comprised of 3,076 or 30% received by OMB-Central Office; 345 
or 3% by OMB-Luzon; 871 or 9% by OMB-Visayas; 5,565 or 55% by OMB-
Mindanao; and, 273 or 3% by OMB-MOLEO.  The 10,130 newly received RAs 
added to the 1,147 pending from CY 2002 brought to 11,277  workload for the 
year with distribution as follows:  OMB-Central Office - 3,671 or 33%; OMB-
Luzon - 359 or 3%; OMB-Visayas - 1,284 or 11%; OMB-Mindanao - 5,652 or 
50%; and, OMB-MOLEO - 311 or 3%.  (see Table 16) 
 
 

 TABLE 17.   WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE (RAS) 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
PARTICULARS TOTAL CO LUZ VIS MIN M0LEO 

Net Workload of Requests 
for Assistance (RAs) 

 
11,277 

 
3,671 

 
359 

 
1,284 

 
5,652 

 
311 

RAs received during the year 10,130 3,076 345 871 5,565 273 
Carry-over from CY 2002 1,147 595 14 413   87 38 

DISPOSED 9,880 2,876 311 840 5,597 256 
PENDING 1,397    795  48 444     55   55 

(Source:  Monitoring and EDP Division, FMS) 

 
Compared with the 9,807 requests for assistance received last year, the 

10,130 RAs received during the period represented an increase of 323 or 3%.  
There were also 51 requests for assistance or less than 1% increase when the 
workload of 11,277 was compared with the 11,226 requests for assistance 
workload in CY 2002. 
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A total number of 9,880 requests for assistance were disposed of in 2003.  
Of these, OMB-Central Office disposed 795 or 57%; OMB-Luzon, 48 or 3%; 
OMB-Visayas, 444 or 32%; OMB-Mindanao, 55 or 4%; and, OMB-MOLEO, 
55 or 4%.  (see Table 17) 
  
 Compared with the 10,079 disposals last year, the volume of requests for 
assistance numbering 9,880 disposed of this 2003 represented a decrease of 199 
or 2%.  Also, the 9,880 disposed requests for assistance were 98% of the 
10,130 newly received requests for assistance and 88% of the 11,277 workload.  
The 9,880 requests for assistance disposed deducted from the net workload 
resulted to a total of 1,397 pending as of December 31, 2003.  The 1,397 
pending requests for assistance, when compared with the 1,147 pending at the 
end of the calendar year 2002, represented an increase of 250 or 22%. 
 

Of the 9,880 requests for assistance disposed, OMB-Mindanao was 
attributed with the highest disposal with 5,597 or 57%; followed by OMB-
Central Office with 2,876 or 29%; OMB-Visayas with 840 or 9%;  OMB-Luzon 
with 311 or 3%; and, OMB-MOLEO with 256 or 2%. PAB has likewise issued 
a total of 57,049 clearances to retirees, promotees and probable appointees 
during the calendar year 2003. 

 
The following graph represents the number of requests for assistance 

received from calendar year 1988 to 2003 with a total of 80,858 requests for 
assistance. 

 

 

Fig. 8. Annual Summary of RAs Received
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Figure 9 shows the trend in the number of RAs acted upon in the fifteen 

year-period of operation of the Office of the Ombudsman which totaled 
77,477. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PROFILES OF REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE 
 

 
 
RAS-C-03-1478 
 
 Assistance was sought by Mr. Tumayao and his aunt regarding his 
supposed enrollment at the Technological University of the Philippines (TUP), 
Manila. He was denied enrollment because he failed to take the entrance 
examination which was conducted in January 2003.    
 
 PAB acted on his request by personally requesting the President of TUP, 
Dr. Federico Camarao to schedule another date of examination for late 
applicants. The requester was able to pass the examination and he is now 
presently enrolled at the said university. 
 
 

Fig. 9 Annual Summary of Requests for Assistance (RAs) Acted Upon 
(CY 1988-2003) 
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RAS-C-03-1311 
 
 Ma. Milagros F. Antonio of San Juan, Metro Manila had personally 
visited the Public Assistance Bureau on May 14, 2003 after the Register of 
Deeds of Pasay City denied her request for the issuance of a new title over a 
property in Pasay City for reasons not acceptable to her.  On the next day, a 
letter was prepared by PAB referring her request to the Register of Deeds, 
Pasay City. Said letter reached said office on May 19, 2003.  In the middle of 
June, 2003, Ms. Antonio informed us that the Register of Deeds of Pasay City 
issued a new title over said property (TCT No. 144782) on June 12, 2003.  She 
thanked our office for the assistance extended. 
 
RAS-C-03-0007 
 
 Mr. Cirilo Mendoza requested our assistance to compel the Municipal 
Agrarian Reform Officer (MARO) of San Isidro, Nueva Ecija, to issue the 
Emancipation Patent in favor of his father, Vidal Mendoza, to implement the 
Decision dated September 16, 1991 of the Department of Agrarian Reform 
Adjudication Board (DARAB), Cabanatuan City, which was affirmed by 
DARAB-Main Office, Quezon City, on September 13, 1995 and Court of 
Appeals on September 20, 2001. Instead of expediting the issuance of the 
Emancipation Patent as his father-beneficiary has been waiting for it for ten 
years after a favorable Decision of DARAB-Cabanatuan City, the MARO of 
San Isidro, Nueva Ecija, impliedly delayed his action thereof by calling Mr. 
Mendoza and the owner of the land to a meeting when the tenancy relation had 
already been resolved by the Decision was issued by DARAB-Cabanatuan City. 
 
 The concerned MARO was warned by our office on his refusal to 
perform an act which was required of him by a Decision. Several follow-up 
letters were sent by us to ensure his action on the directive given to him. 
  
RAS-C-2003-0953-CF  
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman was furnished by the Concerned Parents 
of the Juan C. Angara Memorial National High School (JCAMNHS) of 
Dinalungan, Aurora with a copy of their letters to Hon. Edilberto C. de Jesus, 
Secretary of the Department of Education, seeking his help and immediate 
appropriate action on their grievance against Ms. Arceli Pineda, school 
principal and Ms. Lilia Acosta, teacher. The concerned parents complained 
against the alleged unjustified/strict school policies of Ms. Pineda and 
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unauthorized contributions and the “cross-stitch” project which Ms. Acosta 
allegedly required all her students to make where each student has to spend 
more than P100.00 for materials that could be bought only from Ms. Pineda’s 
store. 
 
 PAB wrote Secretary De Jesus informing that the Office was furnished 
with a copy of the letters and that the Office is interceding on behalf of the 
parents and recommending that an investigation be conducted in the interest of 
truth, fairness, and for the satisfaction of all parties concerned. Dr. Dinah F. 
Mindo, Region 3 DepEd Director was furnished by PAB with a copy of its 
letter to Secretary De Jesus.   
 
 Several developments took place as a result of PAB’s letter to Secretary 
de Jesus. A preliminary investigation was conducted by the Schools Division 
Superintendent of Aurora, Baler. Secretary de Jesus also directed Director 
Mindo to conduct the fact-finding investigation. Finally, a Division 
Investigating Committee of Aurora chaired by Education Supervisor Agustin O. 
Miemban was created relative to the complaints filed against Mrs. Pineda. An 
Investigation Report was later submitted to Secretary de Jesus.  
  
RAS-L-03-074 
 
 Mesdames Rosemarie Crudo, Cherry G. Cruz, Marlin A. Mactal, all from 
the Sangguniang Bayan of Jaen, Nueva Ecija, sought the assistance of this 
Office with respect to their individual appointment with the Civil Service 
Commission. 
 
 They were appointed by Vice-Mayor Danilo Guzman but the Civil 
Service Commission disapproved their appointments. Subsequent 
appointments dated November 13, 2002 were approved by the CSC Field 
Office.  To ventilate the issues, a conference was held in this Office which 
brought together the complainants and the Municipal Officials of Jaen, Nueva 
Ecija.  Through the mediation efforts of this Office, an agreement was made 
whereby proof of actual service rendered would be acceptable as basis for 
payment of back salaries. 
 
 Due to the timely assistance of OMB-Luzon, back salaries were paid to 
the employees and their unwarranted separation from the service was 
prevented. 
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RAS-L-03-229 
 
 A copy of the the letter of Mr. Francisco M. Limbo addressed to Mr. 
Winston   Garcia  of   the  Government    Service Insurance System (GSIS) was 
furnished to OMB-Luzon. The letter requested that the suspension made by 
the GSIS of his monthly pension be lifted considering that all documents 
necessary to facilitate the verification of his status as pensioner were already 
submitted. 
 
 Not satisfied with follow-up letters and phone calls, investigators 
assigned to the case relentlessly pursued this request for assistance and made a 
personal dialogue with Ms. Aida R. Alba, Pension Administration Division of 
GSIS to intercede on behalf of Mr. Limbo and ask for the lifting of the 
suspension of his pension.  Immediately, the GSIS acceded to our request and 
lifted the suspension of the pension of Mr. Limbo. Mr. Cesar Limbo, son of 
the pensioner and recipient of the pension, expressed his gratefulness for the 
help extended by this Office. 
 
RAS-L-03-004 
 
 Mr. Dominador Halili of Barangay Batia, Bocaue, Bulacan, seeking our 
assistance, brought to our attention the alleged apparent partiality of their Brgy. 
Captain Ricardo “Ato” Cruz evidenced by his action and giving favor to his 
opponent in the case filed before the office of Brgy. Captain Halili.  
 
 We invited the parties to a conference in this Office for the purpose of 
discussing possible amicable settlement between them regarding their dispute. 
 
 Through our efforts, the parties entered into a compromise agreement 
wherein complainant Halili agreed not to file a formal complaint against Brgy. 
Captain Cruz and the latter promised to act on complaints filed with his office, 
especially the case filed by Dominador Halili. 
 
RAS-V-03-0012 
 
 Dr. Eufemio M. Montejo, a member of Media Patrol, sought assistance 
regarding their letter-request addressed to SEC dated May 10, 2001 appealing 
for the strict observance of the decision of SEC Manila under SEC Case No. 
C-00182. 
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 The matter was forwarded to Atty. Merle F. Cunanan, Regional Director, 
SEC, Cebu City, for appropriate action.  This is in consideration of the position 
of Dr. Montejo that the Special Meeting for the purpose of electing the Pastor-
President and other officers of the New Life should be conducted pursuant to 
the dispositive portion of the decision of the aforementioned case. 
 
 In reply, OMB-Visayas was informed that the said request was already 
acted upon with the advice that Dr. Montejo shall file the necessary pleadings 
with the Regional Trial Court. 
 
RAS-V-03-0118 
  
 A complaint of Doroteo Camay of Cogon, Lilo-an, Cebu was indorsed 
to OMB-Visayas by a CPU Action Officer regarding the survey error of Lot 
3819, Pls-823 located at San Vicente, Lilo-an, Cebu. 
 
 The matter was then forwarded to Mr. Augustus L. Momongan, 
Regional Director, DENR VII, Banilad, Mandaue City for appropriate action. 
Director Momongan informed this Office that he directed Atty. Noel Empleo, 
Resident Ombudsman, to take charge on the matter. Later on, this Office was 
informed that a survey has already been conducted by the DENR. 
 
 RAS-M-03-1450 
 
 OMB-Mindanao received a copy of the letter of Ms. Marluna B. Sarguil 
addressed to Leovigildo C. Santos, Acting Chief, Financial and Management 
Division, Philippine Veterans Affairs Office, Quezon City, requesting for the 
release of her old age pension. 
 
 This Office requested for the information as to the action taken thereon.   
 
 On June 30, 2003, this Office received a copy of the letter dated June 12, 
2003 informing that said claim was approved on June 9, 2003 under Masterlist 
No. 03-00716 and that the Management was requested to effect priority 
payment of her monthly pension. 
  
RAS-M-02-3138 
 
 This pertains to the request of Mrs. Esterlina C. Acuzar from South 
Cotabato relative to the alleged inaction of Brgy. Captain Jimmy Belonio.  She 
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is requesting for a board resolution from the Sangguniang Barangay of Upper 
Cebuano, Tupi, South Cotabato, which is a requirement to secure an 
Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) with the DENR for her Broiler 
Production Project. 
    
 In his sworn letter-comment, the Barangay Captain averred that the 
Sangguniang Barangay is reluctant to give a barangay resolution until such time 
that there will be a solution to the supply of water in their area and/or that the 
requester will comply with her promise to allow the continued supply of water 
and not to cut off the main pipe (that is buried under her property) that 
supplies water to Upper Cebuano and Station 5 of DOLE Philippines. 
 
 The Office called the attention of the local Sangguniang Barangay to the 
provisions of RA 6713 specifically Sections 4(e), 5(a) and 5(d) thereof.  They 
were advised to issue a resolution, whether the same be for or against the 
requester to treat different issues separately, that is, the water system is separate 
from that of the broiler production project. 
 

On February 24, 2003, the OMB-Mindanao received a letter from Brgy. 
Captain Jimmy L. Belonio, informing us that they were able to settle the 
problem of the petitioners (residents of barangay Upper Cebuano) and the 
poultry owner, Mrs. Acuzar.  As a result thereof, the barangay council finally 
passed the resolution sought by the requester. 

 
 

 
Bureau of Resident Ombudsman  

 
 
Organic Resident Ombudsmen (RO) were installed in various graft-

prone government agencies with the main function of monitoring the official 
performance and transactions in order to prevent wheeling and dealing.  They 
also address incidents of inefficiency where these happen and conduct systems 
and procedure studies. In this connection, the Presidential Anti-Graft 
Commission, in partnership with the Presidential Committee on Effective 
Governance (PCEG), the Office of the Ombudsman (OMB) and the 
Transparency and Accountability Network (TAN) - a network of 21 
anticorruption non-governmental organizations, facilitated the crafting of 
agency-specific corruption prevention reform measures. 
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Thus, a series of five (5) seminar-workshops were conducted and 
participated in by a total of 33 government agencies to help them come up with 
corruption prevention measures, by identifying corruption vulnerabilities and 
formulating strategic measures to address these vulnerabilities. 

 
The Convenors (PAGC, OMB, PCEG and TAN) decided to initially 

focus on ten (10) agencies, namely: 
 
1. Bureau of Internal Revenue 
2. Bureau of Customs 
3. Department of Public Works and Highways 
4. Department of Education 
5. Department of Justice 
6. Department of Environment and Natural Resources 
7. Department of Agrarian Reform 
8. Department of Interior and Local Government 
9. Department of Health 
10. National Labor Relations Commission 
 
Two workshops were held to critique and prioritize the Corruption 

Prevention Reform Measures (CPRM) presented by each government agency. 
The revised Corruption Prevention Reform Measures were then subjected to 
focus group discussions (FGDs) with the respective Resident Ombudsmen, 
experts and stakeholders/clients to validate them. At the same time, the 
monitoring mechanisms were also discussed to ensure implementation of these 
CPRMs. The Convenors subsequently reviewed the revised CPRMs for further 
refinements. 

 
The finalized CPRMs constitute a Corruption Prevention Reform 

Program which will be a work in progress until corruption is significantly 
reduced in the bureaucracy. 

 
As a strategy for CPRM to ensure a high rate of success in curbing 

corruption in the bureaucracy, the initial ten (10) agencies would undergo an 
Integrity Development Review (IDR), with the assistance of the Development 
Academy of the Philippines (DAP). The IDR is a tool used in successful 
programs to prevent and control corruption through a diagnosis of corruption 
vulnerabilities and assessment of the safeguards to prevent corruption. At the 
same time, it serves as a “road map” to the agency in progressively instituting 
corruption prevention reform measures to be able to significantly reduce 
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corruption in six (6) years. Each successive batch of CPRMs will likewise be 
subjected to focus group discussions with stakeholders. 

 
Monitoring mechanisms will be established. To ensure effective and 

well-coordinated monitoring of the progress and success of implementing the 
CPRMs, the following will have active roles: the Resident Ombudsmen 
(organic or non-organic), the agency’s stakeholders, including the Philippine 
Government Employees Association (PGEA), and the general public through a 
Communication Plan. 

 
Regular assessment of the CPRM will be conducted using success 

indicators. A Progress Score Card may be developed and adopted through the 
technical assistance of the Development Academy of the Philippines. This will 
be factored in the Performing Evaluation of the Integrity Team to be 
supervised by the CSC. 

 
The CPRP is intended to effectively address the apparent lack of 

comprehensive, doable, coordinated and sustainable strategy to combat 
corruption that is focused on vulnerable institutions and systems in order to cut 
the lifeline and systemic roots of corruption.  
 
 ROs also serve as the front-line service providers of the Office of the 
Ombudsman to the general public in their respective agencies. For 2003, the 
Bureau of Resident Ombudsman received a total of 8,188 requests for 
assistance (RAs).  With 23 pending from calendar year 2002, total workload was 
8,211.  There were 8,210 RAs or 99% of the workload disposed so that only 1 
remained pending at the end of the year.  An aggregate of 225 complaints for 
fact-finding were received and with 136 pending from the previous year, total 
workload was 361.  The Resident Ombudsmen completed 248 investigations or 
69% of the workload so that 113 were pending as of December 31, 2003.  On 
the media interest cases, 46 were received and 94 pending cases were carried 
over from previous year, so total workload was 140.  With 82 cases or 59% of 
the workload acted upon, 58 cases remained pending at the end of the year.  (see 
Table 18) 
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TABLE 18.   WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF CASES AND REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE 
FILED WITH THE RESIDENT OMBUDSMEN 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 
 

 
PARTICULARS 

Requests 
for 

Assistance 
(RAs 

Fact-
Finding 

Investigation 
(FFI) 

Media 
Interest 
Cases 
(MIC) 

Total Workload 8,211 361 140 
     Cases Received 8,188 225 46 
     Carry-Over from CY 2002 23 136 94 
Disposed 8,210 248 82 
Pending 1 113 58 

 
With regard to RO’s agency monitoring projects, 93 special projects 

were undertaken while continuing coordination with the Commission on Audit 
(COA) Resident Auditors and the accountable officials of host agencies was 
maintained to expedite liquidation of cash advances.  Information 
dissemination and graft prevention activities included the distribution of 
primers, posters, and journals in their respective agencies and conducted a total 
of 56 lectures and seminars. Also accomplished were 15 researches/systems 
study on management policies regarding the utilization of agency resources 
while other activities undertaken included ocular inspections, consultative 
meetings, conferences/briefings and courtesy call for newly installed Resident 
Ombudsmen. 
  
 Meanwhile, the CPU/JGU Task Force received a total of 50 CPU/JGU 
cases for CY 2003.  With 69 cases pending from the calendar year 2002 and the 
28 cases reverted back to pending, the total workload was 147, of which 
evaluation was completed in 95 cases or 65% resulting to 52 cases pending 
evaluation as of December 31, 2003.  (see Table 19)   
 

TABLE 19.  WORKLOAD AND STATUS OF CPU/JGU CASES 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
Total Workload of Cases from CPUs, JGUs, ROs 147 
      Endorsed Cases Received 50 
      Disposed Cases Reverted Back to Pending 28 
      Carry-over from CY 2002 69 
Evaluation Completed 95 
Pending Evaluation 52 
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NON-ORGANIC RESIDENT OMBUDSMEN 
 

The Office of the Ombudsman through Administrative Order No. 10 
Series of 2001 also installed Resident Ombudsmen (Non-Organic) in 
departments, offices and agencies of the government, including government-
owned or controlled corporations.   
 
 Their duties and functions as provided for in AO  No. 10, are as follows:  
(1) attend to requests for assistance filed directly with the Office, or assigned to 
him by its head or by the Office of the Ombudsman or by accredited CPUs 
and JGUs and expedite and facilitate action thereon; (2) report anomalies, 
irregular acts, unethical conduct or illegal activities committed by the officials 
and employees of the office; (3) aid the Office of the Ombudsman in gathering 
evidence in cases under investigation by the latter; (4) make a study of standing 
procedures and systems in the office with a view to suggest  improvements 
therein, or recommend changes in the same as would prevent the incidence of 
graft and other irregularities perceived to have been facilitated by the existing 
systems and procedures; (5) perform such other functions as may be assigned 
to him by the Office of the Ombudsman; and, (6) submit an 
accomplishment/progress report to the Office of the Ombudsman at least 
once a month, or oftener as circumstances may require.  The report should not 
be coursed through the head or any other official of the office.  In addition, all 
resident ombudsmen are deputized Ombudsman investigators with authority to 
conduct fact-finding inquiries in matters falling within their above-mentioned 
functions and, for such purpose, shall be deemed empowered to issue 
subpoena and subpoena duces tecum. 
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Research and Special Studies Bureau 

 
Research and special studies are being undertaken by the Research and 

Special Studies Bureau (RSSB) of the Fact-Finding, Intelligence and Research 
Office (FIRO). This is the legislative-action arm of the Office of the Ombudsman. 
Pursuant to Section 15 (6) of Republic Act 6770, RSSB, as the legislative arm, is 
tasked to “determine the causes of inefficiency, red tape, mismanagement, 
fraud and corruption in the government”. It “submits recommendations to 
specific agencies in the government as well as Congress for their elimination 
and the observance of high standards of ethics and efficiency.” For 2003, the 
following projects and activities were undertaken by the RSSB:   
 

 For the study of systems and procedures, it has 
completed the following:  (1) study on  the Disposal of Cases 
Filed with the Sandiganbayan by OSP for CY 2000-2002; (2) study 
on Board of Investment’s approval of Chingkoe firms allowing 
them to enjoy Tax Credit Privileges; (3) study on the Procedures 
in Trasmitting Cases for Prosecution before the Lower Courts; 
and (4)  Position paper on three (3) related bills (House Bills No. 
5161, 5603 & 5913) on the Acquisition, Use, Maintenance and 
Disposal of Government Property particularly government 
vehicles. 

 
 The RSSB extended  management and technical 
support services as it  performed dissemination of information 
relative to the Office of the Ombudsman and preparation of   the 
following:  (1) Security Survey and Security Plan amendments; (2) 
Comments on the OMB Evaluation Recruitment System;    (3) 
Comments on the SWS survey instrument; (4) Comments and 
recommendations pertaining to the proposed Executive 
Order/legal draft in the form of a Presidential Proclamation; (5)  
Presentation  for the 4th Steering Group Committee Meeting in 
Kuala Lumpur; and (6) Terms of Reference on the proposed 
program titled “Increased Public Awareness Against Corruption.” 

 
  Under its library services, it provided library automation 
to 899 users of the software package Lex Libris; acquired and 
processed 321 volumes and 2,890 journals and periodicals; 
indexed 2,779 laws and resolutions; created databank of 3,116 
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news items; circulated 3,214 library materials to 3,789 users; and 
collated 331 books and prepared 177 bibliographic descriptions 
which were accordingly stamped and prepared for circulation. 

 
 In coordination with the Department of Justice, RSSB has conducted 
Capability Building Seminar Workshop on Investigation and 
Prosecution of Ombudsman cases for the Department of Justice 
Prosecutors deputized as OMB Prosecutors for Regions I, II, IV, V, VII, 
VIII, IX, X, XI, XIII, XIV and ARMM.  Likewise, RSSB conducted three 
(3) batches  of  the  Trial Advocacy Skills Development Program 
designed to continually reinforce and intensify the knowledge and 
capabilities of Ombudsman lawyers and prosecutors in trial and 
advocacy areas for them to confront squarely and with confidence the 
formidable tasks assigned to them.   The third batch was funded by the 
Economic Governance Technical Assistance (EGTA). 
 
 RSSB also attended to the following: (1) PAGC-led Inter-Agency 
Technical Working Group Meetings on lifestyle check; (2) meetings and 
consultations with various representatives/programme managers of donor 
agencies like UNDP, EU/EC, USAID; (3) Technical Working Group meeting 
on the proposed UN Convention against Corruption (UNCAC); (4)  technical 
evaluation committee meeting for the building of the Office of the Security 
Services Requirement for the year 2003-2004; and (5) meeting on the Focus 
Group Discussion work outputs of the following agencies:  DECS, DOJ, DAR, 
DENR, DPWH, National Land Registration Commission, DILG and DOH. 
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REGIONAL AND SECTORAL ACTIVITIES 

 
 

The regional and sectoral offices of the Office of the Ombudsman have 
accomplished relevant programs and activities, in support to the continuing 
efforts and unwavering commitment of the Office to establish a graft-free, 
effective and responsible government.  For calendar year 2003, the OMB-
Luzon, the OMB-Visayas, the OMB-Mindanao and the OMB-MOLEO have 
undertaken various programs and activities that support the graft prevention 
thrust of the Ombudsman. 
 
 

OMB-Luzon 
 

 The Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for Luzon has undertaken the 
following graft prevention activities for the calendar year 2003:  
 
 1.  Conducted four training seminars/workshops as follows: 

 
a.   Seminar Workshop on Graft Investigation 

held on August 27, 2003. Participants were all 
the Associate Graft Investigation Officers and 
Graft Prevention and Control Officers of 
PACPO-Luzon.    

 
b. A review of English Grammar, Semantics, 

Syntax, Punctuation & Basic Composition and 
Reading Financial Statements held on 
September 26, 2003. 

 
c.   OMB-Wide Training for Lawyers and 

Paralegals on Writing Resolutions and 
Decisions held on October 15, 2003.   

 
d.  “Colloquy on Lifestyle Probe” held on 

November 27, 2003, an informal training for 
PACPO, Luzon’s AGIOs and GPCOs on 
techniques used in lifestyle investigations, as 
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well as  on the weight and sufficiency of 
evidence required to file and prosecute cases 
on unexplained wealth. 

 
2.   Accredited Corruption Prevention Units (CPUs) 

  
At the beginning of 2003, there were 11 CPUs accredited 

by OMB-Luzon.   However, with the approval of the 2003 CPU 
Manual by Ombudsman Simeon V. Marcelo, there were 6 
applicants which were not given certificate of accreditation due to 
incomplete requirements. 
 

Golden Dawn of the Far East United Foundation, Inc. was 
accredited on September 12, 2003 as Corruption Prevention Unit. 

  
 

OMB-Visayas 
 

 For the calendar year 2003, the Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for 
the Visayas has accomplished the following: 
 

 1.  Conducted 67 lectures and fora on Public 
Accountability, specifically on RA 6713, RA 6770 and RA 3019 in 
different government agencies in the Visayas; 
 
 2.  The annual 3-day Resident Ombudsmen Consultative 
Assembly, attended by all Resident Ombudsmen of government 
offices in the Visayas, and their respective regional directors on 
the first day of the assembly; 
 
 3.  Continued activities of the Junior Graftwatch Program 
such as JGU Orientation Seminars, JGU, On the Job Training, 
JGU Barangay Hopping and Radio Hopping and JGU Advisers’ 
Orientation Training; 
 

4.  Conducted Lifestyle Check Seminar attended by active 
CPU Action Officers and selected Ombudsman investigators on 
February 28, 2003; and 
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 5.  “Ally ng Ombudsman” Program attended by the JGUs 
and CPUs, Resident Ombudsman and OMB-Visayas employees. 
  
 For CY 2003, there are fifty-eight (58) requests for 
assistance/CPL cases forwarded by CPUs and eleven (11) RAs 
were indorsed by JGUs. 

 
 

OMB-Mindanao 
 

 For the calendar year 2003, this Area-Office continued to pursue the 
proactive corruption prevention policy thrust of the Honorable Tanodbayan, 
particularly towards increasing citizen participation in the campaign for good 
government through the conduct of the “CPU Lifestyle Probe Training 
Program”.  Existing graft prevention programs involving the youth (Junior 
Graftwatch Program) and those in government (Resident Ombudsmen 
Program) were also pursued, so as to sustain public awareness and involvement 
of the people from Mindanao in the continuing drive for public accountability 
and governance. 
 
 ADVOCACY AND TRAINING. Various information-education activities 
were undertaken in response to the increasing request for orientation and 
briefing about the Office of the Ombudsman and anti-graft laws and issuances.  
A total of 69 public accountability fora-seminars were conducted, attended by 
about 5,294 participants.   
  
 Other undertakings for the year consisted of the following: 
 

 1.  Mindanao-wide “Paralegal Conference for Resident 
Ombudsmen” in May held at Davao City with Honorable 
Tanodbayan as the Keynote Speaker.  The affair closely coincided 
with the 15th anniversary of the Office; 
 
 2.  Four (4) batches of the “CPU Lifestyle Probe Training 
Program” were held in Davao City and Cagayan de Oro City, 
involving CPUs from the different regions in Mindanao; 
 
 3.  “Ehem! Aha! Training Program” as a joint undertaking 
between the Office and the Philippine Province of the Society of 
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Jesus (PPSJ), aimed at increasing sensitivity and involvement in 
combating corruption; and 
 
 4.  “Ehem! In Government” as an inter-agency undertaking 
in coordination with the Office of the Presidential Assistant for 
Mindanao (OPAMIN) and other national agencies based in 
Davao City. 

 
 Training linkages were likewise continued with the integration of 
Ombudsman-related topics in the training designs of various government 
agencies, particularly the Department of the Interior and Local Government 
(DILG)-Regions XI and XII, including the Regional Office of Traffic 
Management Center based in Davao City. 
 
 JUNIOR GRAFTWATCH UNITS (JGUS). OMB-MIN likewise continued 
to accredit JGUs with a total of 105 school-based JGUs for the calendar year 
2003.  Other JGU-related activities consisted of various JGU information-
dissemination conducted with students. 
 
 CORRUPTION PREVENTION UNITS (CPUS).  During the first half of 
the year, ten (10) CPUs were accredited.  However, as a result of the revised 
CPU guidelines instituted during the year, one (1) additional CPU was 
accredited, resulting to a total of eleven (11) CPUs accredited for CY 2003.   A 
total of  46 requests for assistance  were indorsed by CPUs for CY 2003. 
 
 A CPU Lifestyle Probe Training Seminar was held in response to the 
allegations of corruption and anomalies of provincial officials in Sarangani 
Province, with the multi-sectoral non-governmental organization - SPARGG 
(Sarangani People’s Action for Reform and Good Governance).   
 
 RESIDENT OMBUDSMAN PROGRAM (ROS). There were 52 non-organic 
ROs designated during the year which brought the total ROs to 544 as of 
December 2003.  A total of 29 RAs were indorsed by ROs.  The Association of 
Resident Ombudsmen in Government Agencies (AROGA) was established in 
Mindanao. 
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OMB-MOLEO 
 
 The year 2003 ushered in a significant change in this Office with the 
adoption of Memorandum Circular No. 2 (Series of 2003).  Under the Memo 
Circular, the Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for the Military was renamed 
as “Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for the Military and Other Law 
Enforcement Offices (OMB-MOLEO)” which shall have jurisdiction over 
all cases involving the following offices and personnel, including civilian 
employees of: Armed Forces of the Philippines and its service units;  Philippine 
National Police (PNP);  Bureau of Fire Protection (BFP);  Bureau of Jail 
Management and Penology (BJMP);  Bureau of Corrections; and,  Philippine 
Coast Guard.   
 
 In addition, the following offices within the National Capital Region 
(NCR) and Luzon shall likewise be under the jurisdiction of OMB-MOLEO:   
Port and Airport Police; Traffic Enforcers of the Department of Public Safety 
and Traffic Management (DPSTM) and other similar traffic offices and 
municipalities;  Officials and employees of the National Police Commission 
(NAPOLCOM);  Customs Police/Customs Investigation Intelligence Service 
(CIIS); Officers and personnel of city or municipal jails;  Land Transportation 
Office (LTO) “Flying Squad”;  Immigration Officers, Intelligence 
Officers/Agents/Aides, Investigation Agents and Law Enforcement 
Evaluation Officers of the Bureau of Immigration and Deportation (BID); and  
Metro Manila Authority (MMDA) Traffic Enforcers. 
 
 The Quick Response Team (QRT) was institutionalized during the 
middle part of the year.  It is designed to speed up the disposition of cases by 
reducing layers in the documents flow and streamlining the procedure in 
handling documents. 
 
 With regard to its information dissemination campaign, the Fact-Finding 
Bureau of OMB-MOLEO conducted a total of thirty (30) seminar-workshops 
in eleven (11) Police Regional Offices, and in various military headquarters, as 
well as in Philippine Military Academy, Philippine National Police Academy 
and Philippine Coast Guard.  New lecture modules were introduced to suit the 
needs of the participants and to make the seminar-workshops more relevant 
and interesting. 
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FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT SERVICES 

 
 
PERSONNEL COMPLEMENT 
 
 The Office of the Ombudsman was complemented by a total of 840 
employees for CY 2003 with breakdown as follows: OMB-Central Office - 381 
(45%); OSP - 122 (15%); OMB-Luzon - 101 (12%); OMB-Visayas - 73(9%); 
OMB-Mindanao - 87(10%); and OMB-MOLEO - 76 (9%).  (see Figure 10) 
 
 

 
 
 
EMPLOYEES’ WELFARE 
  
 The OMB Employees Medical and Welfare Fund (OEMWF) established 
in 1996 continued its thrust of providing benefits such as medical assistance 
and credit facilities in the form of loans, funeral and housing assistance. 
 

Priority Fund Programs No. Amount 
1. Processing and granting of applications for General Purpose 

Loan 
480 P13,860,658.00 

2.   Processing and granting of claims for reimbursement of 
medical expenses of member-employees 

 
610 

 
    2,067,263.68 

3.   Processing and granting of claims for reimbursement of 
medical expenses of member-dependents 

 
399 

 
       420,835.16 

4.   Processing and disbursing of hospital bills for the Annual 
Medical Check-up Program 

  
     2,612,136.48 

5.   Processing and granting of applications for Commodity Loan 109      2,396,523.54 

Figure 10.  Personnel Complement of the Office of the Ombudsman 
as of December 31, 2003 

MOLEO 
9% 

OSP 
15% 

Luzon 
12% 

Visayas 
9% 

Mindanao 
10% 

Central Office 
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OMB-EMWF continued its policy enunciations governing fund 
operation by passing Board Resolutions concerning the following:  (1) 
guidelines in the withdrawal of membership contributions from the OEMWF; 
(2) increase in the maximum membership contribution; (3) grant and 
distribution of cash dividends for the year ended December 2002; (4) grant of 
commodity loan benefit as additional program of OEMWF; (5) emergency 
medical assistance to the OMB-EMWF members and their dependents; (6) 
designation of Assistant Health and Welfare Fund Officer and the Assistant 
Officer; (7) further amendment of Section 1(A), Article VI of the Rules and 
Regulations of the OEMWF; and (8) termination of services of Staff and 
release to Mother Unit.  
 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
 
 The HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT DIVISION (HRMD) of the 
Central Administrative Services (CAS) evaluated a total of 109 applications, 
processed 164 appointments (Central Office - 105 and Area/Sectoral Offices - 
59); issued 783 service records and 91 certificates of employment for salary, 
policy and housing loans from GSIS/Pag-IBIG; certified a total of 4,019 leave 
credits, 41 general payrolls, and 807 disbursement vouchers; prepared the lists 
of employees entitled to the step increment and loyalty incentive awards and 
rice subsidy allowance; processed applications for the Financial Support 
Program, and recommended 986 personnel to attend various training 
programs/seminars/conferences.  
 
 The CENTRAL RECORDS DIVISION (CRD) which served as the 
frontline unit of the Office concerning records management received a total of 
5,362 mails and documents through the Manila Central Post Office (MCPO), 
282 pouches through courier/messengerial services and 4,537 documents 
through its over-the-counter service; released 9,513 documents through MCPO; 
served 11,277 pleadings/subpoenas/documents; updated the docket books and 
the CARE (Case Records) computerized system on transactions regarding cases, 
and; facilitated inquiries on the status of cases filed based on the documents 
received and processed. 
 
 The functional units of the GENERAL SERVICES DIVISION (GSD) 
rendered services in relation to procurement/property management, cashiering, 
motorpool, printing, ground and building maintenance and provided 



2003 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 

 

 62 
 

supervision of contracted janitorial services. For its property/procurement 
function, it has undertaken the following: prepared, conducted, processed 
released/issued, and reviewed/checked 629 canvass materials and supplies, 89 
Abstracts of Price Quotations, 466 Purchase Orders and 87 Job Orders, 
Memorandum Receipts, 626 delivery inspection and waste material reports, 38 
requests for clearance; reviewed 375 supporting documents for procurement 
requirements and 677 Disbursement Vouchers; procured a total of 
P9,367,701.64 worth of supplies and P13,305,568.85 worth of equipment; 
served 1,104 supplies withdrawals slips; and prepared 257 communications. 
 
 For its cashiering function, GSD disbursed a total of 119 payrolls for 
salaries and allowances; issued 2,953 checks and 457 official receipts; prepared 
and submitted to COA 84 reports; prepared 349 advices for checks 
issued/cancelled, and, remitted 134 payments to GSIS/Bureau of 
Treasury/Telephone and other accounts. 
 
 Administrative support mechanisms were updated such as:  recording of 
monthly contributions, recording of monthly loan repayments, extending direct 
payments of financial obligations of members confined in hospital, signing of 
administrative clearance certifications, conducting of the 5th Corporate 
Planning, preparing of the annual report of OEMWF and the Financial 
Statement for 2003. 
 
 The printing section consumed a total of 861 reams for its in-house 
printing of various office forms.  The motorpool section served a total of 2,367 
requests for vehicle use; rendered 413 job requests for vehicle repairs and 
preventive maintenance; facilitated renewal of insurance and registration of 75 
vehicles; prepared accident reports and damage claims; and reviewed 48 billings 
for gasoline and oil consumption. 
 
 The carpentry and ground building maintenance crews performed 218 
carpentry jobs, 221 plumbing services, 286 in-house repair/maintenance of 
office equipment, fabricated the stage for the anniversary program, painted and 
varnished cabinets/shelves and dividers of OMB-Proper, assisted in the 
installation of pressure tanks, and constructed two (2) concrete humps along 
the driveway. 
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FINANCE AND MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
 
 The Financial Management Services (FMS) consists of three divisions:  
the Planning and Budget Divisions (PBD), the Accounting Division, and the 
Monitoring and EDP Division (MED). 
 
 The PLANNING AND BUDGET DIVISION (PBD) coordinated with the 
Department of Budget and Management (DBM) for the release of cash 
allocations for  OMB operations, including the payments of benefits, budgetary 
requirement for the Trial Advocacy Skills and payment of amortizations due on 
the loan taken for the OMB building from the Land Bank of the Philippines; 
requested for the inclusion of additional budget in the OMB’s FY 2004 
appropriations in the amount of P44 million; facilitated the release of Extra 
Christmas Bonus, Rice Subsidy Allowance and the 20% augmentation of the 
Extraordinary and Miscellaneous Expenses per approved OMB Resolution; 
prepared the resolutions for the grant of Emergency Economic Assistance to 
CFAG member-agencies, and realignment of fiscal year 2002 savings and 
annual budgetary requirements for the proposed 7 additional positions for OSP;  
prepared and submitted for Her Excellency Gloria Macapagal-Arroyo the 
Budget Estimates for FY 2004 in the total amount of P633,155,000.00; 
processed a total of 3,100 Allotment and Obligations Slips (ALOBs); and, 
prepared the requirements and attended the meetings of the Consitutional 
Fiscal Autonomy Group - Technical Working Group (CFAG-TWG), Technical 
Budget Hearings and the 7th Corporate Planning Conference. 
 
 The ACCOUNTING DIVISION prepared and submitted the Summary List 
of Checks Issued, Bank Reconciliation, Trial Balance, Statement of Allotment, 
Obligations and Balances, Report of Bidders Bond and Journals for the months 
covered in compliance with the reporting requirements of the National 
Accounting Office and the Commission on Audit; processed a total of 1,720 
vouchers; controlled 3,100 ALOBs; issued 1,634 certifications for loan 
payments to GSIS/Pag-IBIG and PhilHealth premiums; prepared 203 payrolls 
and 132 schedules of remittances; coordinated and facilitated the signing of the 
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between the Office of the Ombudsman 
and the Land Bank of the Philippines on ATM Payroll Facility and Installation, 
incorporating the provision of an OMB Account to cover the P200.00 
minimum maintaining balance requirement for payroll accounts; and 
attended/participated in the meetings of the OMB-Employees Medical and 
Welfare Fund Board of Directors, PAGBA, GACPA and AGAP Convention 
Seminars. 
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 The MONITORING AND EDP DIVISION (MED) coordinated with the 
different bureaus/division for the modification/enhancement and maintenance 
of existing OMB-developed computerized system; modified the following:  (1) 
SEC Monitoring System for evaluation of the Report Data Entry Module and  
generation of monthly report on complaints referred to OMB offices/bureaus 
and other concerned agencies, (2) OMB-Proper’s Case Monitoring System for 
report generation of sorted docket numbers and printing of cases encoded for 
specific days, (3) developed  and installed data entry  and inquiry modules of 
the new  Case Registry System for the Central Records Division and OMB-
MOLEO, (4) installed the OMB-Military’s Document Tracking System.  MED 
also performed the following:  prepared and submitted report on additional 
information for the Biometrics System pertaining to time and attendance, 
application software, system safety, security measures and preventive 
maintenance cost and procedures, coordinated with the OMB Website host 
and facilitated announcement of the installation of the OMB Website and 
availability of forwarding e-mail accounts for all officials and employees; 
coordinated with DENR-MISD on the provision of technical assistance in the 
setup of the OMB network;  reviewed the Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT) consultancy proposals and prepared the report for 
consideration of members of the Committee on ICT consultant; evaluated 18 
abstracts of quotation and proposed bids for IT hardware and software and 
recommended most advantageous offers; attended to 995 requests for technical 
assistance/support in hardware and software operations; and, managed OMB 
e-mails, facilitated receipt and sending of mails. 
 
 In the performance of its monitoring function, it finalized and submitted 
the Integrated Accomplishment Reports and Reports of Operations for the 
Third and Fourth Quarters and Second Semester and Annual for calendar year 
2002 and First and Second Quarters, First Semester for calendar year 2003; 
evaluated the utilization of leased copiers and recommended reduction of 
minimum number of copies for monthly billing; coordinated with the National 
Statistics Coordination Board (NSCB) and submitted OMB’s areas of concern 
for the Economic and Social Indicator System; prepared and submitted to 
NSCB the statistical information for the Agency Statistical Calendar and 
Supplemental Agency Statistical Calendar Form; prepared and submitted to the 
National Economic Development Authority (NEDA) OMB’s accomplishment 
with regard to the Medium-Term Philippine Development Plan.  
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 MED likewise prepared requirements and attended meetings of the (7th 
OMB Corporate Planning Conference IT Workshop and Orientation of 
IAAGCC member-agencies, Inter-Agency Committee initiated by the 
Department of Interior and Local Government, Information Technology E-
Commerce Council, OMB-USAID-DAP) CFAG-TWG, Budget Hearings, Bids 
and Awards Committee and OMB and OMB-Christmas Party Committee; 
attended the meetings of the UNDP on the nationally executed projects and 
the Dialogue on Judicial Independence, Corruption and Enforcement; and, 
participated in the briefing of GSIS’ Electronic File Exchange System and 
attended seminars on Cisco Systems Industry Events 2004, Microsoft 
Enterprise Expo 2003 Launching and seminars conducted by the National 
Computer Center. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 

 
 

 OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN 
 Consolidated Detailed Balance Sheet 
 As of December 31, 2003 
     

ASSETS 
     
Current Assets:    
Cash (Note 6)    
 Cash Collecting Officers           48,567.92   
 Cash Disbursing Officers      1,474,158.85   
 Petty Cash Fund (Note 3.4)         168,415.00   
 Cash in Bank- Local Currency, CA    17,017,768.01   
 Cash in Bank- Local Currency, SA         147,300.70      18,856,210.48  
Receivables (Note 7)    
 Due from Officers & Employees      1,403,947.03   
 Due from NGAs         920,392.36   
 Due from GOCC           17,235.00   
 Due from Central Office    10,565,608.75   
 Due from Regional Offices      3,424,716.28   
 Due from Other Funds         107,271.00   
 Receivables, Disallowances, Charges         900,220.77      17,339,391.19  
Inventories (Notes 3.3 and 8)    
 Office Supplies Inventory      3,080,595.32   
 Other Supplies Inventory         759,011.69      3,839,607.01  
Prepaid Expenses (Note 9)    
 Prepaid Rent           21,049.80   
 Prepaid Insurance      1,161,749.09   
 Advances to Contractors         572,681.95   
 Other Prepaid Expenses           34,708.28      1,790,189.12  
Other Current Assets    
 Guaranty Deposits          130,000.00  
Investments    
 Investments in Stocks          258,190.00  
Property, Plant and Equipment (Notes 3.5 and 10)    

 Land  159,280,005.00   
 Buildings  178,818,628.89   
 Office Equipment   21,650,031.61    
 less: Accumulated Depreciation-Office Equipment   14,863,485.37       6,786,546.24   
 Furnitures and Fixtures   16,343,677.96    
 less: Accumulated Depreciation-Other Equipment     5,542,155.03     10,801,522.93   
 IT Equipment and Software   36,647,459.99    
 less: Accumulated Depreciation-IT Equipment & Software    16,317,101.28  20,330,358.71   
 Library Books     3,813,252.97    
 less: Accumulated Depreciation-Library Books     1,461,178.84       2,352,074.13   
 Communication Equipment     1,515,595.54    
 less: Accumulated Depreciation-Communication Equipment        947,899.93          567,695.61   
 Other Machineries and Equipment     1,686,379.95    

 
less: Accumulated Depreciation-Other Machineries & 
Equipment        240,654.57       1,445,725.38   

 Motor Vehicles   35,629,947.76    
 less: Accumulated Depreciation-Motor Vehicles   16,983,425.38     18,646,522.38   
 Other Property, Plant and Equipment     5,989,455.78    

 
less: Accumulated Depreciation-Other Property, Plant & 
Equipment     1,520,091.15       4,469,364.63   

 Construction in Progress-Agency Assets   441,712,484.77   
 Items in Transit       3,483,326.60    848,694,255.27  
Other Assets (Note 11)    
 Other Assets  1,551,445.99      1,551,445.99  

      TOTAL ASSETS   892,459,289.06  
     

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
     
Liabilities (Note 3.7)    
Current Liabilities (Note 12)    
 Accounts Payable     15,100,390.68   
 Due to Officers and Employees          953,449.82   
 Due to National Treasury            24,944.83   
 Due to BIR       1,152,271.53   
 Due to GSIS          912,468.62   
 Due to PAG-IBIG          380,147.88   
 Due to PHILHEALTH          133,803.29   
 Due to Other  National Government Agencies       3,128,076.17   
 Due to Central Office          675,579.08   
 Due to Other Funds                   50.00   
 Performance/Bidders/Bail Bonds Payable       2,974,295.52   
 Other Payables       2,239,110.06      27,674,587.48  
     Long-Term Liabilities (Note 13)    
 Loans Payable, Domestic     325,000,000.00  
     Deferred Credits    
 Other Deffered Credits              89,819.98  

Equity    
 Government Equity     539,694,881.60  

      TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY     892,459,289.06  
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OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GOVERNMENT EQUITY 
As of December 31, 2003 

 

Government Equity, January 1, 2003      432,953,755.42  

Add:       Current Operations   161,306,327.39    
              Prior Year's Adjusments    (54,565,201.21)    106,741,126.18  
Government Equity, December 31, 2003      539,694,881.60  

 
 

OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year ended December 31, 2003 

 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities: 
Cash Inflows:   
 Receipt of Notice of Cash Allocation      506,014,620.00   
 Receipt of Subsidy from Central Office      134,122,659.01   
 Collection of Miscellaneous Service Income                  712.00   

 Receipt of Refunds of Cash Advances            532,635.45   
 Receipt of Refunds of Excess Payments              42,230.13   
 Undeposited Collection                  212.00   
 Grant from UNDP          1,702,400.00   
 Collection of Receivables              13,557.00   
 Collection of Certification Fees              76,068.15   

 Collection of Performance/Bidders/Bail Bonds            401,522.06   
 Petty Cash Fund              18,665.00   
 Prior Years Adjustment (those not taken up in the books)            338,993.39   
 Receipt of transfer from other funds                8,831.90   
 Receipt of Interest earned for the year            104,632.52   
 Total Cash Inflows        643,377,738.61  

Cash Outflows:   
 Cash Payment of Operating Expenses    (233,001,097.71)  
 Cash Payments of Payables        (6,954,823.28)  

 Cash Purchase of Office Supplies Inventory        (8,115,998.63)  
 Cash Advances granted for Travel and Special Purpose        (2,215,413.06)  
 Granting of Cash Advance/Petty Cash Fund      (65,432,243.56)  
 Remittance to GSIS/HDMF/Philhealth/NHMFC/EMWF      (60,006,465.33)  
 Refund of Guaranty Deposits           (120,000.00)  
 Release of Funds to Regional Offices    (139,411,127.96)  
 Cost of Booklets              (3,000.00)  
 Transfers to Other Funds        (1,278,386.00)  
 Payment of Previous Year's Expenses           (429,362.71)  
 Granting of Terminal Leave Benefits           (245,220.25)  
 Reversion of Unused Notice of cash Allocation             (83,853.61)  
 Cash Deposit to National Treasury             (10,008.88)  
 Refund of Witholding Tax             (18,635.43)  
 Refund of Bidders Bond           (171,107.49)  
 Total Cash Outflows      (517,496,743.90) 
Cash Provided by Operating Activities        125,880,994.71  
Cash Flow from Investing Activities:   
Cash Outflows:   
Buildings      (55,469,737.09)  

Purchase of Books           (266,812.00)  
Purchase of Motor Vehicles        (9,093,293.26)  
Purchase of Equipment, Furnitures & Fixtures        (4,668,628.21)  
Total Cash Out Flows      (69,498,470.56) 
Cash Used in Investing Activities        (69,498,470.56) 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities:   
Cash Outflows:   
Payment of Loan        (50,000,000.00) 
Cash Used in Financing Activities        (50,000,000.00) 
Total Cash Provided by Operating, Investing and Financing Activities          6,382,524.15  
Add: Cash Balance, Beginning, January 1, 2003        12,473,686.33  

Cash Balance, Ending, December 31, 2003        18,856,210.48  
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OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN 
Consolidated Statement of Income and Expenses 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 

Income    

  Subsidy Income from National Government     529,731,642.99  
  Subsidy from Central Office     141,659,573.79  
  Subsidy to Regional Offices    (139,411,127.96) 
  Income from Grants and Donations         9,000,000.00  
  Interest Income              74,793.01  
  Miscellaneous Income                   845.66  
  Other Fines and Penalties                   292.28  
  Clearance and Certification Fees                   118.00  

 Total Income     541,056,137.77  

Less Expenses:    

 Personal Services    
  Salaries and Wages-Regular Pay  182,568,492.70    
  Personnel Economic Relief Allowance(PERA)      4,732,972.80    
  Additional Compensation (ADCOM)      4,731,225.69    
  Representation Allowance (RA)    13,962,395.44    
  Transportation Allowance(TA)    13,503,120.46    
  Clothing Allowance      5,570,082.50    
  Productivity Incentive Benefits      1,705,640.00    
  Other Bonuses and Allowances      3,419,334.00    
  Honoraria      1,134,706.17    
  Hazard Pay             2,077.19    
  Overtime and Night Pay      2,781,304.28    
  Cash Gift      7,323,893.50    
  Year End Bonus    13,068,093.50    
  Life and Retirement Insurance Contributions    19,115,755.62    
  PAG-IBIG Contributions         970,976.73    
  PHILHEALTH Contributions      1,125,686.99    
  ECC Contributions         615,640.48    
  Pensions Benefits-Civilians      3,389,607.78    
  Terminal Leave Benefits      3,518,433.54    
  Other Personnel Benefits      9,043,134.30     292,282,573.67  
 Maintenance and Other Operating Expenses    
  Traveling Expenses - Local      4,559,932.15    
  Traveling Expenses - Foreign      1,447,626.99    
  Training and Seminar Expenses      4,321,057.77    
  Scholarship Expenses             5,000.00    
  Office Supplies Expense      8,323,249.48    
  Accountable Form Expense           55,293.00    

  Food Supplies Expenses         137,853.32    
  Medical, Dental and Laboratory Supplies Expense                300.00    
  Gasoline, Oil and Lubricants Expense      1,772,098.53    
  Textbook and Instruction Materials Expense             1,150.00    
  Other Supplies Expense         523,371.45    
  Water Expenses      1,068,041.65    
  Electricity Expenses    14,817,734.64    
  Postage and Deliveries         171,693.03    
  Telephone-Landline      3,572,866.68    
  Telephone-Mobile         308,221.80    
  Internet Expenses           52,216.00    
  Cable, Satellite, Telegraph & Radio Expenses             6,875.00    
  Awards & Indemnities           30,000.00    
  Advertising Expense         256,690.67    
  Printing  and Binding Expense         473,478.14    
  Rent Expense      4,131,903.58    
  Representation Expenses         117,139.84    
  Transportation and Delivery Expenses                324.00    
  Subscription Expense         480,377.45    
  Auditing Services           22,373.93    
  Consultancy Services         345,000.00    
  General Services      1,110,839.80    
  janitorial Services    11,872,071.94    
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  Security Services    12,000,748.86    
  Other Professional Services         177,032.65    
  Repair & Maintenance-Office Buildings          312,551.45    
  Repair and Maintenance-Office Equipment         236,848.20    
  Repairs and Maintenance-Furniture  and  Fixtures           87,277.60    
  Repairs and Maintenance-IT Equipment and Software           55,877.00    
  Repairs and Maintenance-Communication Equipment             3,580.00    
  Repair and Maintenance-Other Machinery & Equipment           31,303.51    
  Repairs and Maintenance-Motor Vehicles       1,722,332.18    
  Repair and Maintenance-Other PPE           67,980.00    
  Donation             1,500.00    
  Confidential Expenses         325,524.00    
  Intelligence Expenses         325,524.00    
  Extraordinary  Expenses      1,665,825.71    
  Miscellaneous Expenses      2,583,151.63    
  Taxes, Duties and Licenses             5,994.00    
  Fidelity Bond Premium         172,179.55    
  Insurance Expense      2,968,397.77    
  Depreciation - Office Equipment         166,651.08    
  Depreciation – Furniture & Fixtures         218,732.60    
  Depreciation - IT Equipment         194,830.47    
  Depreciation - Library Books           26,324.71    
  Depreciation-Communication Equipment           18,882.63    
  Depreciation-Other Machineries and Equipment                421.95    
  Depreciation - Motor Vehicles         677,775.09    
  Depreciation-Other PPE           63,975.49    
  Other Maintenance and Operating Expenses      3,364,988.74       87,460,991.71  

 Financial Expenses    
  Bank Charges                6,245.00  
 Total Expenses     379,749,810.38  

Excess of Income over Expenses     161,306,327.39  
 

 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
1. General/Agency Profile 

 
1.1 The 1987 Constitution, in its declaration of Principles and State Policies, 

mandated that the State shall maintain honesty and integrity in the public 
service and take positive and effective measures against graft and 
corruption. It has likewise reiterated that public office is a public trust and 
that public officers and employees must, at all times, be accountable to the 
people, serve them with utmost responsibility, integrity, loyalty and 
efficiency, act with patriotism and justice, and lead modest lives. Along this 
line, the same Constitution gave birth to the Office of the Ombudsman 
which it has expressly described as an independent body and the protector 
of the people. It has vested the Office with broad and comprehensive 
powers in order to institute reforms in the bureaucracy and prosecute erring 
government officials and employees. 

 
1.2 OMB’s key authority is the power of inquiry; in this connection, its various 

programs, projects and activities are: 
 

a. General Investigation Service 
� Evaluation of complaints and conduct preliminary investigation 
� Conduct of fact-finding investigation and intelligence activities 
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� Adjudication of administrative cases 
b.    Prosecution of complaints/cases 

� Prosecution of cases and filing of cases with courts. 
 

c.     Public Assistance and Corruption Prevention 
� Promotion of efficient and fast delivery of service from the 

government to the general public thru public assistance 
programs 

� Development and implementation of plans and programs 
aimed at promoting and enhancing community involvement in 
the campaign against irregularities in government, 
maintenance and operation of community-based corruption 
prevention groups. 

 
 

2. Basis of Financial Statements Presentation 
 

2.1 The statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
state accounting principles and standards. 

 
2.2    In the consolidated financial statements, the financial reports of the area or 

sectoral offices, namely: the Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for Luzon, 
the Office of the Ombudsman for Visayas, the Office of the Deputy 
Ombudsman for Mindanao and the Office of the Deputy Ombudsman for 
Military and Other Law Enforcement Offices, are included in said reports. 

 
 

3. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

3.1 The Office of the Ombudsman uses the accrual basis of accounting. All 
expenses are recognized when incurred and reported in the financial 
statements in the period to which they relate. Income is on accrual basis 
except for transactions where accrual basis is impractical or when law 
requires other methods. 

 
3.2 Notice of Cash Allocation is recorded in the books, as well as, those income 

or receipts which the agency is authorized to use. 
 

3.3 The cost of ending inventory of office supplies and materials and other 
inventory items is based on the Perpetual Inventory System. 

 
3.4 Petty Cash Fund (PCF) account is maintained under the Imprest System. 

All replenishment is directly charged to the expense account and the petty 
cash fund is not used to purchase regular inventory items for stock. 

 
3.5 Property, Plant and Equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation. The straight line method of depreciation is used in 
depreciating the Property, Plant and Equipment with estimated useful lives 
ranging from five (5) to ten (10) years. A residual value computed at ten (10) 
percent of the cost of asset is set and depreciation starts in the following 
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month after purchase. 
 

3.6 Accounts were classified to conform to the new Chart of Accounts 
prescribed under the New Government Accounting System (NGAS) per 
COA Circular No. 2003-02 dated August 1, 2003. 
 

3.7 Payable accounts are recognized and recorded in the books of accounts 
only upon acceptance of the goods/inventory/other assets and rendition of 
services to the agency. 

 
3.8 Financial Expenses such as bank charges are separately classified from 

MOOE. 
 
 

4. Correction of Fundamental Errors 
 

4.1 Fundamental errors of prior years are corrected by using the Prior Years’ 
Adjustments account. Errors affecting current year’s operations are charged 
to current year’s accounts. 

 
 

5. Subsequent Events 
 

5.1 The Office of the Ombudsman was granted a Long-term Loan of Pesos: 
Four Hundred Million only (Php 400,000,000.00), Philippine currency, from 
the Land Bank of the Philippines for the construction of the Ombudsman 
Building at Agham Road, Diliman, Quezon City with the following terms and 
conditions: 

 
Purpose: To finance the construction of the Ombudsman Building 

 
Interest: At Lender’s prime lending rates plus three and a half 

percent (3.5 %) spread at the time of availment. Fixed for 
the term of the loan. 

 
Term:            Ten (10) years, inclusive of two (2) year grace on principal. 

All releases are co-terminus with the first drawdown. 
 
Repayment:  Principal - Payable quarterly in thirty-two (32) equal 

quarterly amortizations, effective July 04, 2002 to April 04, 
2010. 

          
Amortization: The amortization date was changed from fourth (4th) day of 

the first month of every quarter to last day of the first (1st) 
month of every quarter based on the First Amendment to 
Loan Agreement. 

 
5.2 The Ombudsman Visayas Building (Phase I) located at M. Velez Street, 

Guadalupe, Cebu City was constructed at a cost of P  26,075,263.00. Land, 
with an area of 3,000 sq. meters more or less, is booked at its market value 
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of P 9,000,000.00 per Deed of Donation executed on July 25, 2003 between 
the Province of Cebu (donor) represented by Gov. Pablo P. Garcia and the 
Office of the Ombudsman (donee) represented by Hon. Simeon V. Marcelo, 
Tanodbayan (Ombudsman). 

 
 

6. Cash and Other Cash Account 
 

              This consists of the following accounts by office: 
   

a)    Central Office 
      

          Petty Cash Fund P 139,750.00        

          Cash-Collecting Officer 46,033.96          

          Cash-Disbursing Officer 1,395,350.96     

          Cash in Bank-Local Currency, CA 4,848,337.89     

          Total P 6,429,472.81     

 
 
The PCF represents petty cash fund granted to Special Disbursing Officers 
for the  repair of motor vehicles/equipments/computers and travel expenses 
of process servers. 

 
Cash-Collecting Officers represents undeposited collections as of December 
31, 2003. 

 
Cash-Disbursing Offices represents unliquidated cash advances of OMB 
Cashier and Area/Sectoral disbursing officers for payroll and special projects. 

 
Cash in Bank-Local Currency, CA represents deposits maintained with 
Authorized Government Depository Bank (AGDB). 

 
 
b)     Ombudsman-Luzon 
 

          Cash - Collecting Officer P 212.00               

          Cash in Bank-Local Currency, CA 3,373,630.44     

          Total P 3,373,842.44     

 
 
 

c) Ombudsman-Visayas 
 

          Cash- Collecting Officer P 2,322.00            

          Cash Disbursing Officer 78,807.89          

          Cash in Bank-Local Currency, CA 4,357,863.79     

          Total P 4,438,993.68     
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d) Ombudsman-Mindanao 
 

          Petty Cash Fund P 18,665.00          

          Cash in Bank-Local Currency, CA 2,920,199.80     

          Cash in Bank-Local Currency, SA 147,300.70        

          Total P 3,086,165.50     

 
 
Cash in Bank-Local Currency, SA represents collections from certification 
fees and cost of reproduction of documents. 

 
 

e) Ombudsman-MOLEO 
 

          Petty Cash Fund P 10,000.00          

          Cash in Bank-Local Currency, CA 1,587,294.51     

          Total P 1,597,294.51     

 
 
 
 

7. Accounts Receivable 
 
This account consists of the following accounts by office: 
 
a)   Central Office 
 

 

          Due from Officers and Employees P 664,556.91        

          Due from NGAS 14,613.28          

          Due from Regional Offices 3,424,716.28     

          Disallowances/Charges 236,889.15        

          Total P 4,340,775.62     

 
 
 
The account Due from Officers and Employees consist mainly of the amount 
granted for cash advances for traveling, intelligence fund and special 
purposes which are subject to liquidation.  

 
Due from NGAS amounting to P 14,613.28 represents receivable from 
Procurement Service. 

 
Due from Regional Offices represent unliquidated internal operating budget 
(I.O.B.) granted to Area/Sectoral Offices before decentralization, as follows: 
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          OMB-Luzon P 394,069.31        

          OMB-Military 2,891,113.11     

          OMB-Visayas 15,543.95          

          OMB-Mindanao 123,989.91        

          Total P 3,424,716.28     

 
             

Disallowances/Charges represents amount due from suppliers and 
employees resulting from audit disallowances which have become final and 
executory. 

 
 

b) Ombudsman-Luzon 
 
 

          Due from Officers and Employees P 3,875.00            

          Due from National Government Agency 129.50               

          Due from Other Funds 98,271.00          

          Due from Central Office 599,861.35        

          Due from GOCC's 17,235.00          

          Total P 719,371.85        

 
 

The account Due from Officers and Employees consist of unused cash 
advance granted for travelling and refunded in 2003. 

 
The account Due from National Government Agency represents 
overpayment of supplies purchased. 
 
The account Due from Other Funds consists of funding checks inadvertently 
deposited to other account. 

 
The account Due from Central Office consists of unreleased funding checks 
for the year 2003. 
 
The account Due from GOCC’s represents unreleased claims for insurance 
of vehicles.  

 
 

c) Ombudsman-Visayas 
 

 This account consists of: 
 

          Due from Officers and Employees P 708,517.12          

          Due from NGAs 905,649.58          

          Due from Central Office 9,286,986.12       

          Disallowances/Charges 10,975.73            

          Total P 10,912,128.55     
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d)           Ombudsman-Mindanao 
 

          Due from Officers and Employees P 2,775.00            

          Due from Other Funds 17,328.17          

          Disallowances/Charges 652,355.89        

P 672,459.06        

 
 
 

e)  Ombudsman-MOLEO 
 

          Due from Officers and Employees P 24,223.00          

          Due from Central Office 678,761.28        

          Total P 702,984.28        

 
 
The account Due from Officers and Employees represents unliquidated cash 
advance for traveling. 

  
 

8. Inventories 
 

Office Other 
OMB Supplies Inventory

Offices Inventory Items Total

Central Office P 2,654,116.81       P 53,528.00 P 2,707,644.81     

Luzon 518,960.31          0.00 518,960.31        

Visayas 162,371.92          186,523.38 348,895.30        

Mindanao 171,739.87          0.00 171,739.87        

Military 92,366.72            0.00 92,366.72          

P 3,599,555.63       P 240,051.38        P 3,839,607.01     

 
 
 

9. Prepaid Expenses 
 

Central
Account Office Visayas Mindanao MOLEO Total

Prepaid Rent 21,049.80             0.00 0.00 0.00 21,049.80

Prepaid Insurance 1,084,756.71        40,843.77 13,084.19 23,064.42 1,161,749.09

Other Prepaid Expense 19,708.28             0.00 0.00 0.00 19,708.28

1,125,514.79        40,843.77      13,084.19      23,064.42      1,202,507.17       

 
 
 

10. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
       This account consists of the following accounts by office: 
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a) Central Office 

 

  

          Land P 150,280,005.00     

          Buildings 191,318,628.89     

          Office Equipment 15,281,173.32       

          IT Equipment and Software 27,482,515.20       

          Motor Vehicles 27,927,871.00       

          Furniture and Fixtures 11,153,321.79       

          Library Books 2,794,820.53         

          Other Property, Plant & Equipment 3,258,221.19         

          Communication Equipment 953,573.08            

          Construction in Progress-Agency Assets 418,738,974.17     

          Fixed Assets in Transit 3,483,326.60         

          TOTAL 852,672,430.77     

          Less: Total Accumulated Depreciation P 44,057,995.32       

          Total P 808,614,435.45     

 
 

Total accumulated depreciation is up to year 2002 only. 

Land represents the value of the lot at Agham Road, Diliman, Quezon City where 
the main office is located with a total area of 10,000 square meters. This was 
purchased in November 1998 for P 150,280,005.00 including registration and 
other incidental charges, as evidenced by Tax Declaration No. D-085-03191. 

 
The Construction in Progress-Agency Assets represents payments made for the 
construction of the Ombudsman Building: ownership has not been officially 
transferred. 

 
 
b)      Ombudsman-Luzon 
 

This account consists of: 
 

          IT Equipment and Software P 3,028,689.22       

          Motor Vehicles 2,445,000.00       

          Office Equipment 2,456,846.57       

          Other Equipment 190,319.61          

          Furniture and Fixtures 1,100,974.58       

          Library Books 231,612.15          

          Other Assets 933,144.58          

          Total Book Value 10,386,586.71     

          less: Accumulated Depreciation ** 722,100.00          

          Net Book Value P 9,664,486.71       

 
 

** Only the motor vehicles were depreciated because the Inventory Report 
for the year 2003 has not been submitted to the Accounting Section. 
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c)    Ombudsman-Visayas 
 

This account consists of: 
 

          Land P 9,000,000.00     

          Construction In Progress 22,973,510.60   

          IT Equipment and Software 1,854,576.99     

          Com munication Equipment 191,495.46        

          Motor Vehicles 1,631,320.00     

          Office Equipment 756,517.12        

          Furniture and Fixtures 1,019,131.18     

          Library Books 362,539.07        

          Other Assets 2,599,284.59     

          Total Book Value 40,388,375.01   

          less: Accumulated Depreciation 4,881,502.31     

          Net Book Value P 35,506,872.70   

 
 
        Property, Plant and Equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. 

 
Regular maintenance, repair and minor replacements are charged against 
Maintenance and Other Operating Expenses. 
 

 
d)     Ombudsman-Mindanao 
 

This account consists of: 
 

          Office Equipment P 967,326.76        

          Furniture and Fixtures 1,563,876.40     

          IT Equipment and Software 2,491,174.00     

          Library Books 272,717.27        

          Other Equipment 131,950.00        

          Communication Equipment 164,628.35        

          Motor Vehicles 1,287,611.76     

          Total Book Value 6,879,284.54     

          less: Accumulated Depreciation 4,647,079.86     

          Net Book Value P 2,232,204.68     

 
 

e)   Ombudsman-MOLEO 
 

This account consists of: 
 

IT Equipment and Software P            1,790,504.58 

Motor Vehicles             2,338,145.00 

Office Equipment             2,188,167.84 

Other Equipment             1,496,060.34 
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Communication Equipment                205,898.65 

Furniture and Fixtures             1,506,374.01 

Library Books                151,563.95 

Total Book Value             9,676,714.37 

less: Accumulated Depreciation **            3,567,314.06 

          Net Book Value P            6,109,400.31 

 
11. Other Assets 
 

OMB OFFICES

Amount

Central Offices 32,425.00            

Luzon 933,144.58          

Visayas 206,640.41          

Mindanao 379,236.00          

       TOTAL 1,551,445.99        

 
 
 

12. Current Liabilities 
 

a)    Central Office 
 

  

          Accounts Payable P 6,093,878.04    

          Witholding Tax Payable 40,906.07         

          GSIS Payable 1,452,550.52    

          Pag-Ibig Payable 322,676.06       

          Philhealth Payable 57,733.04         

          Performance/Bidders/Bail Bonds Payable 1,810,088.21    

          Due to Officers and Employees 160,051.85       

          Due to National Government Agencies 1,573,068.10    

          Other Payables 713,125.72       

          Total P 12,224,077.61  

 
 

b)    Ombudsman-Luzon 
 

 

          Accounts Payable P 45,236.96       

          Due to BIR 196,161.37     

          Due to GSIS 2,831.83         

          Due to PAG-IBIG 1,165.11         

          Due to PHILHEALTH 287.50            

          Performance/Bidders/Bail Bonds Payable 37,500.00       

          Due to Officers and Employees 122,741.48     

          Due to Other Funds 50.00              

          Other Payables 37,800.00       

          Total P 443,774.25      
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c)    Ombudsman-Visayas 

 

 

          Accounts Payable P 2,440,322.91  

          Witholding Tax Payable 34,927.10       

          GSIS Payable 192,140.58     

          Pag-Ibig Payable (708.81)           

          Philhealth Payable (106.25)           

          Due to Officers and Employees 39,266.32       

          Due to National Government Agencies (356,950.89)    

          Other Payables 149,019.82     

          Total P 2,497,910.78  

 
 
 

d) Ombudsman-Mindanao 
 

 

          Accounts Payable P 402,433.50     

          Due to BIR 371,361.68     

          Due to GSIS 649,587.70     

          Due to Pag-Ibig 61,512.82       

          Due to Philhealth 12,512.50       

          Due to Other NGAs 3,424.21         

          Due to Officers and Employees 368,439.75     

          Due to Central Office 344,719.78     

          Due to National Treasury 15,234.12       

          Due to Other Funds 9,000.00         

          Other Payables 734,122.57     

          Total P 2,972,348.63  

 
 

The Other Payables account represents amounts due for reimbursements 
to old LBP CA# 0162-0363-35 account amounting to P 567,126.23 and 
payables to OMB Welfare Fund, NHMFC, Postal Savings Bank and Land 
Bank of the Philippines. 

 
e) Ombudsman-MOLEO 
 

          Accounts Payable P 24,298.95         

          Due to BIR 156,375.79       

          Due to GSIS (7,859.72)          

          Due to Officers and Employees 68,746.20         

          Due to Central Office 330,859.30       

          Total P 572,420.52       
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13. Loans Payable-Domestic 
      Central Office 
 

Loan Granted     400,000,000.00 

Less Amortizations Paid    

 07/04/02  OR# 10566423 
   

12,500,000.00  

 10/04/02  OR# 10566423 
   

12,500,000.00  

 01/04/03  OR# 10566423 
   

12,500,000.00  

 04/04/03  OR# 10566423 
   

12,500,000.00  

 07/04/03  OR# 10566423 
   

12,500,000.00  

 10/30/03  OR# 10566423 
   

12,500,000.00 
      

75,000,000.00 

Balance     
    

325,000,000.00 

       
 
 

14. Subsidy Income from National Government 
 

Central Office 
 

NCA  Received from DBM for operational 
requirements 

 
P 506,009,795.00 

Add: Tax remittance issued to BIR      23,955,156.19 

Subtotal P 529,964,951.19 
Less: reversions of NCA        2,158,699.53 
          Refunds to Bureau of Treasury           543,438.70 

TOTAL P 527,262,812.96 
 

  
 
15. Receipt of Notice of Cash Allocation (NCA) 
 

Notice of Cash Allocation received from Department of Budget and Management 
amounting to P 506,009,795.00, including amortization due on the P 400 Million term 
loan with the Land Bank of the Philippines. 
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OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN 
CONSOLIDATED TRIAL BALANCE 

As  Of  December  31,  2002 
(POST CLOSING) 

 
 

ACCOUNT 
TITLE 

Account 
Code 

  
DEBIT 

  
CREDIT 

Cash Collecting Officers 102           48,567.92   

Cash Disbursing Officers 103      1,474,158.85   
Petty Cash Fund 104         168,415.00   
Cash in Bank- Local Currency, CA 111    17,017,768.01   
Cash in Bank- Local Currency, SA 112         147,300.70   
Due from Officers & Employees 123      1,403,947.03   
Due from NGAs 136         920,392.36   
Due from GOCC 137           17,235.00   
Due from Central Office 141    10,565,608.75   
Due from Regional Offices 142      3,424,716.28   
Due from Other Funds 144         107,271.00   
Disallowances/Charges 146         900,220.77   
Office Supplies Inventory 155      3,080,595.32   
Other Supplies Inventory 165         759,011.69   
Prepaid Rent 177           21,049.80   
Prepaid Insurance 178      1,161,749.09   
Advances to Contractors 181         572,681.95   
Other Prepaid Expenses 185           34,708.28   
Guaranty Deposits 186         130,000.00   
Investment in Stocks 192         258,190.00   
Land 201  159,280,005.00   
Buildings 211  178,818,628.89   
Office Equipment 221    21,650,031.61   
Furniture and Fixtures 222    16,343,677.96   
IT Equipment and Software 223    36,647,459.99   
Books 224      3,813,252.97   
Communication Equipment 229      1,515,595.54   
Other  Machineries and Equipment 240      1,686,379.95   
Motor Vehicles  241    35,629,947.76   
Other Property, Plant and Equipment 250      5,989,455.78   
Construction in Progress-Agency Assets 264  441,712,484.77   
Items in Transit 284      3,483,326.60   
Other Assets 290      1,551,445.99   

Accumulated Depreciation-Office Equipment 321     4,863,485.37  
Accumulated Depreciation-Furniture and Fixtures 322       ,542,155.03  
Accumulated Depreciation-IT Equipment 323    16,317,101.28  
Accumulated Depreciation-Books 324      1,461,178.84  
Accumulated Depreciation-Communication Eqpt. 329         947,899.93  
Accumulated Depreciation-Other Equipment 340         240,654.57  
Accumulated Depreciation-Motor Vehicles 341     6,983,425.38  
Accumulated Depreciation-Other PPE 350      1,520,091.15  
Accounts Payable 401    15,100,390.68  
Due to Officers and Employees 403         953,449.82  
Due to National Treasury 411           24,944.83  
Due to BIR 412      1,152,271.53  
Due to GSIS 413         912,468.62  
Due to Pag-Ibig 414         380,147.88  
Due to PHILHEALTH 415         133,803.29  
Due to Other National Government Agencies 416      3,128,076.17  
Due to Central Office 421         675,579.08  
Due to Other Funds 424                  50.00  
Performance/Bidders/Bail Bonds Payable 427       ,974,295.52  
Other Payables 439      2,239,110.06  
Loans Payable, Domestic 444   25,000,000.00  
Other Deferred Credits 455           89,819.98  
Government Equity 501   39,694,881.60  

T     O     T     A     L   950,335,280.61   50,335,280.61  

   


